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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

YAH KAl WORLD WIDE
ENTERPRISES, INC.et al,

Plaintiffs,
V. Civil Action No.11-cv-2174(KBJ)
GEOFFERY NAPPER,

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This lawsuit arisesfrom adisputebetweenmembersof the African Hebrew
Israelitecommunity(the “Community”)and GeoffreyNapper(“Napper” or
“Defendant”),oneof the Community’sformermembes, regardingthe ownershipand
control of abusinesdocatedin CapitolHeights,Maryland the businessn disputeis
presentlynamedEverlastingLife Restauran& Lounge “EverlastingLife” is aphrase
thathasspecialsignificanceto the membersof the Community,who claimto be
descendantsf biblical Israelitesandwho follow a strict vegandiet. Thus,whenthe
Communityundertookto openafood-serviceestablishmento supporttheir members’
dietaryneedsthe nameEverlastingLife—which waseventuallytrademarkedy one of
thegroup’sleadersimmanuelBen Yehuda(“Prince Immanuel”}—wasselectedo be
the official moniker. The CommunityappointedNapperto managets first Everlasting
Life restaurantindgrocerystore,which wasa cooperativan the District of Columbia,

andNapperwasalsotappedto managethe expansiveEverlastingLife Health Complex
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thatthe Communitylateropenedn Maryland. Whenthe Communitysubsequety
decidedto replaceNapperasmanageif the Complexandto form a corporateentity
namedYah Kai World Wide Enterpriseq“Yah Kai”) to runthatfacility, Napper
seemedo acceptthatmanagemendecisionandcontinuedhis involvementwith certain,
limited aspectf the Complex’sbusinesperatiors—right up until the point at which
heforcibly evictedPrincelmmanuel,Yah Kai, andother Communitymemberdgrom the
premisestook overthefacility andall of its equipmentandbeganoperatingthat
EverlastingLife establishmenashis own.

Beforethis Courtat presents the complaintthat PrincelImmanuelandYah Kai
(“Plaintiffs”) havebroughtagainstNapperunderthe LanhamAct, 15U.S.C.88 1051
1129 andMarylandcommonlaw. (SeeCompl.,ECFNo. 1.)! Lastyear,this Court
conductedathreedaybenchtrial, duringwhich five witnessedestifiedregardingthe
factsunderlyingPlaintiffs’ varioustrademarkinfringementandunfair business
practicesclaimsandNapper’'sdefenses The Courtsubsequentlyeceivedandreviewed
proposedindings of fact andconclusionsof law from the parties,andit hasnow
carefullyexaminedthe myriad legaltenetsthat the partiescontendsquarelyapplyto the
establishedactsof this case As explainedin the Findingsof FactandConclusionsof
Law setforth below, this Courthasdeterminedhat Plaintiffs havesustainedheir

burdenof proof with respecto the complant’s two LanhamAct claims (trademark

I Community member William Young (“Young”) was also a plaintiff itis case when the complaint
was filed, but his claims against Napper were dismissed with gicgwpon his death.SgeOrder,

ECF No. 57, at 2 (affording Plaintiffs an opportunity to move the Coustuttstitute an appropriate
party for Young, and noting that failure to do so within the presdrifdme and manner would result in
the dismissal of his claims).) Young’'s deposition testimavas take on March 6, 2014, prior to his
death éeeYoungDep., March 6, 201% this testimony was admitted at trial as evidencetfe Courts
determination of liability with respect to all counfseJuly 16, 2015 Trial Tr. at 9:710:9; see also
Young Dep., Dé&’s Ex. 2).



infringement andunfair competitiorfalsedesignationof origin), andalsotwo of the
claimsthat Plaintiffs havebroughtunderMarylandcommonlaw (unfair competition
andconversion. However,the elementsf Plaintiffs’ claim for usurpationof corporate
opportunityhavenot been establishedis a matterof law, giventhelack of any fiduciary
duty betweenNapperandPlaintiffs duringtherelevantperiod Accordingly,
JUDGMENT WILL BE ENTERED IN PLAINTIFFS’ FAVOR asto liability with
respectto Countsl, I, Ill, andVI of the complaint andJUDGMENT WILL BE
ENTERED IN DEFENDANT’'S FAVOR with respecto CountlV. A separaterder

consistentwith the Court’sfindings andconclusionswill follow.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs filed the instant lawsuibn December 8, 201xhe complainthassix
counts, only five of which proceeded to trial. Countsidl dl—which were brought
under Sections 32 and 43(a) of the Lanham, Aespectively—claim thatNapper’s
operationof the Everlasting Life Restaurant & Loungdringesupon Prince
Immanuel’s registered trademargegid. 1 3239 (Count 1)), and thaNapper has
engaged in federal unfair competition and false designation of orsgi@d. 1Y 46-45
(Count I1)). Counts Il through VI allegevariousviolations of Marylaad common law;
specifically,Plaintiffs maintainthat Napper has engaged in unfair competit{seeid.
19 46-49 (Count I1l)), has usurped Yah Kai’'s corporate opportungggid. 11 56-54
(Count 1V)), hasbreached a fiduciary duty of loyalty he owed to Yah Kai and the
Community geeid. 11 5559 (Count V), and has converted Yah Kaitangible

property geeid. 1Y 66-64 (Count VI)).



On November 12, 2013, this Coureld a status conference with respecthis
matter, during whichit denied Napper’sirst motion for summary judgmermn the
grounds that the evidentiary record was significantly underdeveloped due to ties’par
failure to engage in robust discoverySeeOrder, ECF No. 33at 1 seealsoDef.’s
Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 24 The Court directed the parties tmdertake an
extended period of discovery aatsoreferred the matter tmediation. §eeOrder,
ECF No. 33at 1-2.) On July 17, 2014, after discovery was complete and mediation
was wnsuccessfulNapper fileda second motion for summary judgmen{SeeDef.’s 2d
Mot. for Summ. J, ECF No. 4B The Court denied this motioon the grounds that
genuine issues ahaterialfact existedregarding ownership ahe restaurant at issue
(seeMinute Orderof Feb. 11, 201} the partieshenproceeded t@repare fottrial.

The Court held &inal pre-trial conferenceon this matteron July 10, 2015.
During that conferencethe Court dismissedPlaintiffs’ breach of fiduciary duty claim
(seeCompl. fl 55-59 (Count V))as legally unfounded under Marylanaw and
duplicative of theusurpation of corporate opportunity claimSeeOrder, ECF No. 57,
at 2.) Furthermore during this samepre-trial conferencethe parties waived their right
to a jury trialon the issue of liability with respect the remainingcountsof the
complaint but reserved their right to a jury trial on the issue of damageseid. at 1.)
Accordingly, the Court bifurcated thgreviously scheduled jury triand proceeded to
hold a bench trial regarding Defendantiability, expresslynoting that, if needed
separate jury trialvould be heldhereafter to determine any damageSed id at 1-2.)

The bench trial in this mattetook placeover three days between July,12D15,

andJuly 16, 2015. Plaintiffcalledfive witnessesincluding Prince Immanuel andr.



Cheryl LeeButler (“Dr. Lee”), who is a member of the Community aadorporate
designee of Yah KaiThe Court also heard the testimony of Carol Al{éAllen™), the
leasing administrator for Kingdom ManagemeadDarrel Edwardg“Edwards”), Yah
Kai’s accountant Napperwas called to the stanay Plaintiffsto testify as an adverse
witness;however,Napper’'scounseldid notcall anywitnesses irNapper’scasein-
chief.

After the bench triatoncluded the parties submittegroposed findings of fact
in table format and inhree iterationsin accordance with this Court’s benttal
practices. (SeeOrder, ECF No. 61explainingProposed Findigs of Fact Tablg)
Plaintiffs wentfirst, laying out their proposedindings of factwith citations to the
record(seeProposed Findings of Fact, ECF No. 62 (“1st FOF "JpJ.andin thesecond
iterationof the table Defendannoted anydisputes regarding Plaintiffs’ listedactsand
added hisown proposed finding¢seeProposed Findings dfact, ECF No. 63 (“2d GF
Tbl.”)). Plaintiffsrespondedo Defendant’sepresentations thethird iterationof the
table (SeePropaed Findings of Fact, ECF No. §8d FOF Tbl.”)).? In addition,both
parties submitted proposed conclusions of Ig8eePls’ Proposed Concls. of Law
(“Pls.” COL"), ECF No0.66; Def.’s Proposed Concls. of LaféDef.’s COL”), ECF No.

68.)

2 The third Findings of Fact Table represents the entire corpus of tmdis that the parties have
proposel to the Court, and this iteration of the tablghe document that is cited in the instant
Memorandum Opinion. Citations to speciimaterial in that table will reference the row numler
numbers in which the material is located, followed by tbkevant columror columns which are
designated “A” “B” and “C”. Thus, a pincite to “3d FOF Thl. at-3® (A)” corresponds to the
information at lines 38 through 40 under Column A.



1. LEGAL STANDARD

“In an action triedn the facts without a jury... the court must find the facts
specially and state its conclusions of law separateRed. R. Civ. P. 52(a)(1)"In
setting forth the findigs of fact, the court need natdress every factual contention
and argumentative detail raised by the patt[a]or discuss b evidence presented at
trial.” Moore v. Hartman 102 F. Supp. 3d 35, 65 (D.D.C. 201&)ternal quotation
marks and citations omitted)nstead “‘the judgeneed only make brief, definite,
pertinent findings and conclusions updretontested mattefF” in a manner that is
“sufficient to allow the appellate coud conduct a meaningful review.Wise v.
United StatesNo. 1201636,2015 WL 7274026, at *2 (D.D.C. Nov. 12015)(quoting
Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a) advisory committee’s note to 1946 amendns=d also Lyles v.
United States759 F.2d 941, 948D.C. Cir. 1985)(“One of [Rule52(a)’s] chief
purposes is to aid the appellate court by affording it a clear understandihg gfound
or basis of thalecision of the trial court.”ifternal quotation marks and citation

omitted)).

1. FINDINGS OF FACT

This Court’sfindings d fact with respecto the instant casare based othe
evidence—i.e., thetestimony and exhibits-thatthe partiessubmittedduring the bench
trial, the Court’sobsewations ofthe demeanor and credibility of tlndtnesses, the
parties’ stipulations, and the record as a whblbotably, becausenany of the basic

factsregardingthe formation and ownership of theverlasting Life Health Compleare

3The Court received the following exhibits into evidence during thecherial: Plaintiffs’ Exhibits 1,
2,3,4,5A,5B,6,7,8,9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14A, 14B, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 29, 31, 34,
35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43; and Defendant’s Exhibits 1, 2.



disputed,this Courthasmadeits factualfindings based largelyn itsevaluation ofthe
believability of thetestifyingwitnesses, whosgeneralcredibility the Court necessarily
assesseth its role as the finder ahefactat trial. The Courtfinds, as a general
matter,that Plaintiffs’ four affirmative withesses-Carol Allen, Darrel Edwards, Prince
Immanue] and Dr. Lee—presented relevant factd which they had firshand
knowledge in alear, frank and candid manner, antattheir testimonywasentirely
credible. By contrast, the Courfound Napper to be disingenuoustahes and the
Courtdid not believesomeof his mostsalientrepresentationsas described below.

A. Overview Of The Testimony Presented At Trial

Allen, who is the leasing administrator fre lease maagement company
Kingdom Management, testifiembouther interactions with Napper and Young
regarding the anticipated expiration of tBGemplex’slease the circumstances leading
to renewalof the leasethe receipt of rent paymenssgned byYah Kai, andcertain
facts rehted tooverpaymentgor utilities with respect tadhe property. (Seeduly 14,
2015 Trial Tr. at 168:6197:12; July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. &5:3-96:13) Edwards, an
accountant for both Yah Kai and Napper, testifadbuthis accounting work for Yah
Kai during the time that Yah Kai operated the Complexluding his observation that
Yah Kaiundertook all of the Complex’s legal responsibilities and business expessitu
from 2009 through 2011 (SeeJuly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 198+213:7; July 15, 2015
Trial Tr. at 11:1530:20.)

Prince Immanuel and Dr. Le&vhoaremembers of the Communitynd have a
personal relationshigvith both Napperandwith the Everlasting Life business
providedpertinent backgroundndrelated specifics regardinge events underlying the

instant trademark disputeAs a leader of the Communitrincelmmanuel testified



about theCommunity’s history (its origins, structurbeliefs,culture,and fourding);
the Community’s development and ownershipglod Everlastig Life restaurant
busineses his ownregistration of tle Everlasting Life service marlNapper’s
involvement in the restaurant businessn behalf of the CommunifyNapper’s
subsequentemoval from managemenand the events surrounding Nappestaction of
Yah Kai and the Community from the Capitol Heighasility. As the corporate
designee of Yah Kai, Dr. Lee testified about the Community’s histo®stablishing
the Everlasting Lifdood-servicebusinesesandits instructions to Nappewith respect
to starting the business Dr. Lee also described the Community’s decision to remove
Napper as manager of Everlasting Life Health Complex, and its formatidah Kai
as the legal entity that the Community entrusted with the responsibilitgsofuctuing
and operating that establishméntNotably, the Court found thathenPrince Immanuel
and Dr. Leetesified about the same events.§, Napper’'s removal as managéney
did so in a mannethat was entirely consistenandthattheyrecountedhe rdevant
eventswith a clear recollection othe mattersdescribed

Napper’s overaldemeanor and testimorwas quiteto the contrary The Court

observedhat Napper’s testimonywhich was presenteals part of Plaintiffs’ casen-

4 The evidence established tHat. Leehas afinancialinterest in the outcome of thiawsuit (see3d

FOF Thbl. at 5354 (A); July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 190:8 (Dr. Lee stating she if1¢ corporate designee
of Yah Kai, a Plaintiff in this case seeking monetary damagéewever, Dr. Leelaborated on her
close friendship with Napper and demonstrated a great deal of cahénfaturing her testimonywhich
substantiallyreinforced her axdibility and cloaked her testimony with an aura of impartia{g#se e.g.,
July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at75:22-176:3 (Dr. Lee) (“I also wanted to say that | doknow where the
dispute really started. But what | do know is that us isittin that meeting and at that house that Mr.
Napper was very important to me, and he was important tanthrabers of that community. He not only
was a leader in the community, nor was he just the manager ofaStieg Life Health Complex, he
was our friend and he was our brother. So we wanted the best oufoomeerybody.”); July 16, 2015
Trial Tr. at 3:24-4:4 (“Q: Dr. Lee, during your answers to questions, it seems that you hageeal i
love for [Napper]. A: | do. QAnd this case for you is not abeuit’s not pesonal, is it? A: It's not.”).



chief, wasriddled with contradictionsand at times, appeared manifesthconsistent
with undisputed facts in the recqrndhich cast doubt upohis credibilityand reliability
as a witness. In addition, Nappedisplayed some signs of dissembling, such as the
evasive nature of Bianswersvith respect to the existence oparportedlyindependent
and unincorporatetbod businesghat heclaimed to havereatedby himselfin his

home garage prior to the Community’s formation of its restaurasinessesaccording
to Napper, thiseparatdood-servicebusinessvas also calledEverlasting Lifé and

was operahg contemporaneouslyith, and in the samphysicalspace asthe
Community’sEverlasting Life businesses, unbeknownst to any other members of the

Community® To be sureNapperdid not falter inhis insistence that healone—was

> For example, when asked during his depositichether he had paid retd run his juice counter

inside the Complebetween 2008 and 2011, Napper answered “| paid in kisdélapperDep.58:8,

March 6, 2014, Pls.” Ex. 24but whenasked the same question at trial, Napper sdid,0, | didn’t pay

the rent in kind”(seeJuly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 96:13). Napper also appeared to be confused regarding
which of the business entities at issue was legally authorized tagibe Complex at any given time
(Compare3d FOF Thbl. a7 (B) (Napperasserts that “Yah Kai obtained new occupancy and business
permits from Prince George’'s County in 202809” to run the Complex)yith NapperDep.31:13-32:1

(“Q: .. .Your testimony ighat [a legal entity the Community called the Everlastinfg Health

CompleX actually had the business license to occupy . . . EverlastingRéftaurant in 2009? A: As

far as | know, yes. Q: 2010? Yes. Q: And 20Kt7As far as | know, yes.”)

8 Thefollowing exchame between Napper and Plaintificounsel is indicative of the fdetched
statements that Napper made throughout his testimony:

Q: When you speak about a business in 1995, is it your testimony thiagne not
referring to Everlasting lfe CommunityCo-Op? A: The business that | established in
1995 was the business that is now known as Everlasting LifeQ. [Is it] the same
business that you operate now under the auspices of Fair and Balanchdt iotr
testimony? A: The busineshat | established back in 1995 has not changed since 1995.
It is the business that | established. . . . Q: Your testimony istheagarage business,
the food business, nerestaurant, was never incorporated, never had a license to do
business in the couy, never registered, never filed an EIN number, existed between
1995 and 2015. Is that your testimony? A: My testimony is thgtbusiness, which is

the food business that | established in 1995, has not been incte@drdao any of the
business entitiethat we've discussed today. . . . Q: Have you produced a single piece of
paper or documentation to verify the existence of that business&:.[W]ith all of the
paperwork that was submitted, I'm not sure whether that, thatyeistreflected in these,

in this document othese submissions that we have.

(July 14, 205 Trial Tr. at140:18-144:7)



the rightful ownerof the Ewerlasting LifeHealth Complex Butmuch ofNapper’slogic
appeared taurn onhis mistakerbelief that,asthe Community member whioelped to
conceptualize tb Community’s bod-servicebusinesesandwas tasked (at least
initially) with the responsibility obringing thatvision to fruition he ownedthat
business; consequentljany of hisexplanationsveresimply not believable’

In short,as reflected in thepecific findings of factthat follow, this Court has
generally resolvedhe parties’ myriadlisputes regardingaterialfactual mattersn
favor of the testimony provided by Plaintiffsiffirmative witnesses-whose consistent
and crediblgestimony was that the Commuypitormed,funded and ownedhe
Everlasting Lifebusiness operatioat issue in this caseandagainstNapper, who, the
Court finds,improperlyappropriatedhattrademarked, profitable ongoing business
concern andhas continuedo operate it without the Community’s permission ama
manner thatisks confusinghe publicabout the nature, origins, and ownership of that

business

“In this regard, it appears that Napper’s entire defense in this alcithges on the erroneous cont®n
that he owned the Compldyy virtue of his ‘sweat egjty’ as the former managgenotwithstamling the
fact that themanager reported to the Community’s leadership, andCdramunity collectivelymade

the financial investments that were rémad to maintain and operathe business. Napper’'s testimony
regardng entitlement to the restauraatuipment that was located on the premises after he evicted Yah
Kai and the other Community membgrsovides one example of this flawed reasonifjthough Yah
Kai had indisputably purchased certain equipment for the CexaiNapper testifiedhat he “didn’t feel
the need to reimburse Yah Kai for [equipment] that was [inGbenplex] before 2008 that was still
there in 2011 even though it may have been different, new orwiber (July 14, 2015Trial Tr. at
106:8-11.) Napper applied this same analysis when asked why hedtideturn the substantial utilities
rebate that the landlord arranged as a reimbursement for overpayman¥athKai previously had
made Nappertestifiedthat “[a]s long as [he] owned the busines®l [was] the tenant at the . . .
Capitol Heights location, [hbad paid utilities” vicariously and was thus entitled ttve rebate (July

15, 2015 Trial Trat 32:13-18.)

10



B. The Everlasting Life Restaurant BusinessesAnd The Entities That
Formed And Operated Them

Members of théAfrican Hebrew Isaelite communityclaim to be“descendants of
the biblical Israelites from the AfricaAmerican tradition” (July 15, 201%rial Tr. at
52:15-16 (Prince Immanuel))and significantly for present purposes, African Hebrew
Israelitesstrictly “follow a naturalvegan plattbased diet” as a mean$ “enhancing
and sustaining” their livedd. 53:1-6; see alsd@d FOF Thl. a7 (A, B)). Napper
“entered the [Community] in 1988 and wadeader within the group” (3d FOF Thl. 4t
(A, B)), as were Young, Dr. Lee, aittince Immanue(seeid. at2-3, 6 (A, B)). In
1993, the Community, whicgenerally believes in collective ownership and eschews
typical notions of individual propertfseeid. at 19 (A, B); see alsaluly 15, 2015 Trial
Tr. at 55:13+15, 106:3-13, 109:23110:20 (Prince Immanuel)tollectively started and
operated a vegetarian restaurant called Soul Vegetarian in Washington sBeQulfy
15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 61:819 (Prince Immanuel)). Two years later, in or around 1995,
the Community opened a secorabtibased retail establishment: an organic vegetarian
food market and restaurant in the same vicinity calleEverlasting Life Community
Co-Op (“the Co-Op”). (Seeidat 61:8-22.) Napper helped to establish t@e-Op (see
July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at&815-18 (Napper))and was selected by the Community to
act as its official manager and to run its operatice® July 15, 2015 Trial Trat 65:3-

4 (Prince Immanuel)).

In order to operate the business activities of@lweOp legally and in accordance
with broader societal norms, Community members undertook to incorporate algener
cooperative associatiena corporate structure that doest have indivdual ownership

interests or issued sharesn the District of Columbia on August 22, 1996See3d

11



FOF TH. at 1117 (A, B); see alsaluly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 154:321 (Prince
Immanuel); July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 56:P2, 54:12-18, 115:1218 (Napper).)The
Community named this corporate entity after @@ Op itself, calling it the
“Everlasting Life Commnity Cooperative” (hereinafter “ELCC”)(See3d FOF Thl. at
11-17 (A, B); see alsaluly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 1224 (Napper).) Napper was one of
the listed incorporators of ELCC, and according to the articles of incorpatalso
served as a directdor the first year of its corporate existenc&eéELCC Certificate
of Incorporation, Pls.” Ex. 29.) Given the legal structure of the assonjdtowever,
Napper could not have legally owned any share of ELCC in his individuatigpa
(SeeJduly 14 2015 Trial Tr. at 64:1-3418 (Napper concedes as much).)

Sometime in the year 2000, the Community expanded its-émodice operations
to Capitol Heights, Maryland, where it opened the business that is at issus in th
lawsuit. The Maryland facility wakcated in asprawlingbuilding at9185 Central
Avenue GeeRestaurant Lease between Hampton Mall and Everlasting Life Cooperati
& 2004 Amendment tdease, Pls.” Ex5, at 4-51), and the Community namedis
businesghe Everlasting LifeHealth Complex (“the Complex”). SeeJuly 14, 2015
Trial Tr. at 66:1518 (Napper).) The Complexoffered an array of vegan soidod
goods and servicescluding a restaurant, bakerjuice bar, and grocery stordSee
July 15, 2015 Trial Trat168:13-23 (Dr. Lee).) The Complex also contained
administrative offices, a large banquet hall, and a health center ajferassage
therapy services. See idat 168:24-169:9.)

Importantly, the initial financial outlay for staup expenses for the Complex

came from investments and donations provided by Community membeeS8qd FOF

12



Tbl. at 43(A, B)); specifically, the members’ collective financial input totaled “about
$1.2 million” in the form ofinvestments and charitable contributions, including
donations‘to help buy” building materials, such as paint brusHeghtbulbs,bricks and
drywall (July 14, 2015Trial Tr. at 166:614 (Napper). Similarly, prior tothe grand
openingof the ComplexCommunity members from various parts of the country and
aroundthe world traveled to Maryland to aid “at every phase” of the project
development: “from the conceptualization, [to] the structure, the design, nd]. flae
build-out” of the Complex. (July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 7261(Prince Immanuel).)
Members “sgnt four or five hours each evening preparing th[e] space” (Y @ew
15:5-16:1), including offering manual labor and skills such as carpentry amdlphg
(seeduly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 165:2266:5 (Napper)). The Community appointed
Napper to manage the Complex, just as it had done witlCth@®p. (Seeduly 15, 2015
Trial Tr. at 64:2265:11 (Prince Immanuel).)

Moreover, just as with th€o-Op, Community members established astaares
corporation so that the Complex could operatallgand in accordance with the laws
of Maryland. The Complex’s operating entity was incorporated in 2001 in #te st
Maryland, and this corporate entity was given the same official nanmteesags$taurant
itself: the Everlasting Life Health Complexdfeinafter “ELHC”). Gee3d FOF Thl. at
24 (A, B); July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 165:2366:15 (Dr. Lee).) Napper served as
ELHC'’s registered resident agentSeeJuly 15,2015 Trial Tr. at 165:23166:15 (Dr.
Lee)) However, the original lease for the Gagy Heights building—where ELHC
would be operating the Complexwas entered intby ELCCas the contractual tengnt

andNapper signed the original lease and all subsequent modifications aarsExtsin

13



his capacity as an officer of ELCE Napper also eentually negotiated a substantial
settlement agreement between ELCC and the management company that otersaw t
Capitol Heights building concerning the overpayment of utilities, as deschbkw.
Unfortunatelyfor the Community, authoritiei Marylandand the District of
Columbia revokedhe corporate statesof ELHC andELCC (in the year2008and
2012, respectivelybecause these entitiésiled to comply withthe statutory
requirements for remaining in good standinge¢3d FOF Thl. at 3%A, B); see also
July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at50:20-151:7 (“The Court will take judicial notice of the
facts of the forfeiture [on October 3, 2008] of the entity known as Everlaktfeg
Health Complex, Inc.”)id. at 155:7~10 (Plaintiffs’ counsél (“Everlasting Lie
Community Cooperative corporate status was revoked or was matoith standing
effective 2012”))° However, somehowhe Complex andhe Co-Op continued to
operate despite these difficulties, and with respect to the Complex, then@Quty

decided to fom yet anothelegal corporate entity-Yah Kai Worldwide Enterprises,

8 ELCC was apparently selected as the lessee because, unlike theineardyorded ELHC, it had a
well-established business record and credit, both of which were neededlitafache approval of a
commercial lease. SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 70:325 (Prince Immanuel) (“Q: And why was
[ELCC] used for purposes of that leask?It was the enterprise which had established itself wad
known in the commercial community, so we were able to leverage thatatégruinto establishing this
new enterprise.”); July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 137-18 (Napper) (espondingo the same gastion,
Napper testifies that “[ELCC] was the entity that was goin@peéarecognized on paper . . . with the
business history that was going to be satisfactory for the propamgmat the time”).)

9Under Marylandaw, a corporate status will be forfeitdor failure to pay taxes, unemployment
insurance, or failure to file annual reportSeeMd. Code, Corps. & Assis § 3503(a)-(c) (1997) see
alsoid. § 3-503(d) (explaining that, if corporate status is forfeited, any legal rigind powers the
entity enjoyed automatically beowe “inoperative, null, and voig; id. 8 3-515 (explaining further that
corporate directors beate “the trustees of its assets for purposes of liquidation” andnd wp its
affairs). Similarly, under D.C. law, a corporate entitill be administratively dissolved for failure to
pay fees and penalties, to deliver a biennial report, or to have a egtered agentSeeD.C. Code

§ 29-106.01. Thus, upon ELCC's dissolution, its registered agent (Napper)medasome legal
authority, but was foreclosed fromcarry{ing] on any activities or affairs eept as necessary to wind
up [ELCC’s] activities and affairs and liquidate its as$dts Id. § 29-106.02

14



Inc.—in 2009, to take on the responsibility of “restructur[ing] and reformulgi[in
Everlasting Life Health Complex to become a viable business again.y 13ul2015
Trial Tr. at 173:2325 (Dr. Lee).)

Three Community membe+sDr. Lee, Young, and Reginald Clayregistered
Yah Kai as a notprofit corporation under the laws of the District of Columbi&ed id
173:9-22; 3d FOF Thbl. at 553 (A, B).) The Community then authorized Yah Kai
“t[ake] over Everlasting Life Health Complex, rearrange[] it, anfiypall bills and
taxes.” Gee3d FOF Thl. at 5ZA, B).) It is undisputed that Yah Kai managed and
operated all the legal and business activities of the EverlastimgHeflth Compx
from 2009 untilNapper fored it to relinquish the Capitol Heights facility November
of 2011, as describethfra in Part 111.D. (SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Trat 155:16-22
(Prince Immanuel)see also idat176:21+178:16 (Dr. Lee).) Specificallyn its role as
manager of the Complexetween 2009 and 201Y¥ah Kai:

(1) acquired all of the necessary licenses and perfmitthe Complex’s
operationgsee3d FOF Thl.at57 (A, B); Maryland Permit to Yah Kai to Operate
Facility, Pls.” Ex. 3);

(2) assumé and repaid ELHC’s debts with respect to tax arrears and outstanding
payments owed to suppliers and Community membszeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at
177:19-179:5 (Dr. Lee));

(3) paid rent for use of the building at 9185 Central Avenue, where the @ampl
was housedsee3d FOF Thl.at67(A); Yah Kai's 20092011 Rent Checks, Pls.’” Exs.

34-36);
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(4) paid the Complex’s bills, including utilitiesndfood supplies geeJuly 15,
2015Trial Tr. at178:15-16, 188:1+10 (Dr. Lee);July 14, 2015Trial Tr. at209:18-
210:5 (Edwards)see alsa@d FOF Thl. at 52, 6QA, B); Everlasting Life Health
Complex Financial Records for 202D15,PIs.” Ex. 31 (sed for Yah Kai’'s tax
returns);

(5) paid taxes related to the Complex’s businese8d FOF Tbl. at 56, 6&1,
64-65, 68-69 (A, B); Yah Kai's Tax Returns, Pls.” Ex. 9);

(6) paid the salaries of the Complex’s employeseB8d FOF Thl. at 6263, 66,
69 (A, B); Income Records for Yah Kai Employees, Pls.” Ex. 10); and

(7) publicly sold goods and services under the n&werlasting Life Health
Complex(see3d FOF Thl.at55 (A, B); Yah Kai’'s Certificate of Business Registration,
Pls.” Ex. 8;Yah Kai’'s DCRA Basic Businessitense Application, Pls.” Ex.)7

C. Napper’s Relationship ToThe Community

The events that give rise the claims at issue in this case center on the personal
and professional relationships between Napper and members of the Cammumch
date back to the mid980s. Napper held a leadership position within the Community’s
organizational structurey stiucture that is bestharacterized aa hierarchical
apportionment of authoritthat hasrepresentative members on an international,
national, and local level. SgeJuy 15, 2015 Trial Tr. ab5:9-15, 152:6-23 (Prince
Immanuel).) Briefly, the “anointed sytual leader of the AfricarAmerican Hebrew
community—Ben Ami—sits at the helm of the leadership hierarchid. &t 54:16-17.)
Directly under him are the “member[s] of the Holy Council, the [Commusijty’
spiritual guiding bog[,]” who receive the title of “Prince(id. at 52:9-12); Plaintiff

Prince Immanuel is one such leader. Under the Prinpeshe “Ministers’ who
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“oversee the dayto-day actions in th@articular areas of focus, be it agricultural,
education, sports and recreationd.(at 152:1214), andon thelowest rung of the
ladderof leadershipare the “Crowns such as Napper and Dr. Lee, “who are also
involved in the dayto-day oversight and coordination of the activities of the members
of the community, the brothers and sistefi®l. at 152:14-18). Notably, the leaders
play a crucial role in the establishment and operation of the Community’s busfess
each of which is individually managed by a selected leader for the benelfi¢ of t
Community. Geeid. at 65:4-11.)

Prince Immanuel nteNapper in 1986 or 1987, when they were both “holding
classes [and] meetings, [and were] very much involved in the [Clommunitg."af
56:14-20 (Prince Immanugl) By 1992, when Dr. Lee first joined the Community,
Napper was already a leader amongmismbersi@d. at 162:+10 (Dr. Lee)), and in the
years to follow, Napper would come to be identified as a “champion|[] ffe]cause of
the Hebrew Israelite Communityid. at 164:2%+24). Napper was a highly
“personable” and “effective” leader, who woudditen “motivate the members” to
engage in Gmmunity activities. Id. at 164:16-20.) Napper was also “important to the
members of that [ClJommunity . . . not only [in his capacity as] a leader” dred “t
manager of the Everlasting Life Health Complex,” bigo as their “friend and . . .
brother.” (d. at 175:24176:3.)

In the mid1990Cs, Prince Immanuel was appointed the local leader for the
African Hebrew Israelitein the District of Columbia, and as such, he was “responsible
for teaching, coordinatindand] directing” the members and their activitielsl. @t

63:3-5 (Prince Immanuel).) It was under Prince Immanuel’s supervisianthie
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Community members in the District of Columldacided to establish the Everlasting
Life CommunityCo-Opin 1995 geeid. at 61:20-63:18). At the time, Napper and
Prince Immanuel had an amicable and “fruitful relationship,” interactgdlaely, and
were both closely involved in the inception of tGe-Op. (Id. at 58:89, 57:1721,
61:17~22.) The Community and its ¢al leaders chose Napper to manageGbeOp
and he became a pronant contributor to its success; he underteskential
responsibilities such as securing the location’s lease, which he did undawmisame.
(See id.at 65:3-4 (Prince Immanuel)July 14 2015 Trial Tr. at 118410 (Napper).)

Once theCo-Op proved to be a profitable venture, the Community began to
explore the possibility of expanding to a new location, and Napper playsedotal role
in the development of the new business as well. éxample, it was Napper who
“located a space in [Capitol Heights, Maryland] and suggested that [the Conyinunit
come together and develop that space into a restaurant and other ass@uiditezsf”
(July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 65:321 (Prince Immanuel). The leaders of the
Community in the Washington Metropolitan area agreed after consulting with Ben
Ami and other leaders around the world, decided to pursue that business opggortuni
(See idat 65:2166:2.) Napper theproceeded to becommtricately involved in the
structuring, financing, and development of the project; for example,dsedivectly
involved in the deliberations with Prince Immanuel to name the business the
“Everlasting Life Health Complex”dee id.at 66:5-18), and he secureti¢ lease for the
property where the Complex would operatthis time,he did so as an officer of ELCC
and as on®f the guarantors, and not hisindividual capacity(seeOriginal Lease

between Hampton Mall as Landlord and Everlasting GfeOp, Pls.” Ex.5A). Napper
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was also selected to be the manager of the Complex'daddgy operations. SeeJuly
15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 170:%6 (Dr. Lee).) Alongside other members of the Community,
Napper contributed his “time, . . . energy and money” to the bettdrafehis
collectively-owned businessd. at 175:8-10), and even if he disagreed with the
Community leaders at times regarding strategic business operationsouas for his
“brother[s] and [his] sister[s]” motivated his continued “adhereaicé obedience to the
[Clommunity” (July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 7820 (Napper)).

Lamentably, he relatively harmonious relationshtipat developedetween
Napper and the Communiguring the creation of the Complex began deteriorating
about four years after the Complex opened its dootse public. By 2004, the
Complexbusiness'was in serious arrearage,” so the Community decided to reduce the
size of the premises and modifye Complex’smanagement structure. (July 15, 2015
Trial Tr. at72:13 (Prince Immanuel)y® The 2004 restructuring also included a
decision by theCommunitys leadersto remove Napper as the manager of the Complex
and theCo-Op (id. at 73:3-8), and to replace him, initially, with Yourg‘a former
military man” with meticulous skills who thelyelieved would successfully turn the
business aroundd. at 73:16-19). To address Napper’s concerns about his
displacement and his significant debtmost which he had acquired in order to

establish the businesseshe Community agreed to pay Napper a monthly stipend of

101t was the decision to reduce the size lodé Complex’s physical footpmt (which the landlord
accompished by erectin@ wall and leasing of padf the space to another entit§at marked the
beginning of the utilities overpayment problems descritnddh in Part I11.D. In short, although the
Community had relinquished ctrol over part of the space that had been leased for the Complex, the
landlord and power company neglected to account for this change whéled the Community for the
Complex’s use of utilities (SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 180:2381:17 (Dr. Lee)see also idat
86:22-87:8, 95:2296:2 (Allen).)
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$9,000 for the next two to three years, for a total of approximately “$200,000 to
$236,000.” Gee idat 74:2175:14.)

Under Young’'s management, the businesses thrived and the Complex’s
operations regained profitability.Sée idat 74:14-15 (Prince Immanugl) But three
years later, in 2007, Young had to “step back” from management “due to health
challenges” id. at 76:4-7), and after another Community member failed to take his
place successfully, Napp®ras reinstituted amanage of the Complex gee id.at 76:8-
77:6). Napper remained in that position for about a year, until October of 2008, when
the Communitis leaders reconvened once more to addmeblemswith the
Complex’s operations. Like before, the Complex had begun to fail under Napper’'s
management, but this time theadership wasletermined to restructure all tdfe
Community’sbusiness operations in the D.C. Metropolitan aresee(d. at 78:5-
79:20.) In a meeting that took place at Young’s house in early Octdl#08,with
Napper in attendancéhe Community leaders concluded that a new “economic
committee” would have to be established to revamp and reorient the Comnsunity’
businesses.Id. at 81:16-19.) The leaders selected Young, Dr. Lee, and Reginald Clay
to compise that committeesge id at 79:8-14 (Prince Immanuel)see alsad. at 173:9-
25 (Dr. Lee) (explaining that these three members later formed Yaaf), ldnd in that
same meeting, Napper wasrmanentlyelieved of his positioms manager of the
Complexhby a “consensus of the leadershipd.(at 81:13-15 (Prince Immanue)) As a
peace offeringo Napper, ana@lso to assist him in recoupirgs considerable
investment in the Complex, Napper was given a full individual ownershipeisttén the

Co-Op, which was at that time a profitable businestd. &t 82:9-18.)
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Notably, although Napper had been an incorporator and/oocat® officer of
ELCC and ELHC see suprdart I11.B, he was not involved in theubsequent creation
or organization of Yah Kai, nor was he involved in the management of the Complex
after October of 2008sg¢e3d FOF Thl. at 129A, B); July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 81:21
(Prince Immanuel) (“Mr. Napper was offered a position on [the Complestucturing
scheme] along with Dr. Lee, Mr. Young and Mr. Clay. He refused.”)). Thusnwtah
Kai wasmanagingthe Complex between 2009 and 20%#&e suprdart Il11.B, Napper’s
only remaining involvement with that business was his sponsorship of a ltealtber
within the facility from which le sold juices and other products, and which he operated
without paying rent or utilities for the use of that counter ar&eeduly 15, 2015 Trial
Tr. at 99:16-25 (Prince Immanuel).)

D. Napper’s Eviction Of Yah Kai And Other Community Members

As mentioned above, Napper had signed the original lease for the Coomplex
December 6, 2000, on behalf of ELCC as the contractual ten&eeQfiginal Lease
between Hampton Mall as Landlord and Everlasting QfeOp, Pls.” Ex. 5A) Napper
also acted as a guarantor ELCC’s obligations along with Cheryl Marshall, another
corporate officer of ELCC. See id) The leasdor the Complexsubsequently
underwent two modificatiors-on June 2, 2002 and October 1, 2004 address
ELCC’s pastdue rent payments antle Commuity’s “desire to reconfigure and reduce
the size of the” premises leased. (Second Amendment to the Leas&XR1SB.)

Notably, with respect tdhe second amendment, Young replaced Cheryl Marshall as the
second guarantor for ELCGé€eid.), and both he and Napper signed a promissory note
undertaking the obligation to satisfy ELCC’s dewhich amounted ta sum of

$172,836.45 in arrearséde id).
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In June of 201l1lapproximately two and a half years after Yah Kaok overas
the manager of the Compme Young reached out to Kingdom Managem étite
management company that the landlord used with respect to the Capitol Heights
building) on behalf of Yah Kain anticipation of the November 2011 expiration of the
original leasedo inquire about getting a melease for the space that the Complex was
using The Communit}s leadershipeasoned thathe Community could¢ontinue
successfullyoperating the Everlasting Life Health Complakthe Capitol Heights
locationwith Yah Kaiastheleaseholder (SeeJuly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 178:13380:8
(Allen).) However, lecauseELCC wasthe contractual tenant under the leasel
Napper was lited as ELCC’s registered ageKingdom Management considered
Napper to be the current leaseholdsndit gave him“the first right of refusal” and
priority with respect teextension of the existing legseather thanmmediately
accepting¥ah Kai’'s new lease proposalld( at 189:26-190:6.) Napper expressed
interest in extending the lease akohgdom Managemernthenengaged ineaserelated
negotiations directly with Napper, who at that point proclaimed himself CEQ.GICE
(See3d FOF Thbl. at 94A, B); see alsaluly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 65:122 (Napper)
(“Q: So effectively you setldesignated yourself as the CEO of Evetilag Life
Community Cooperative; correct? A: In this document, yes.”).) Asd aesult of these
negotiations—which included discussions of the newdyscovered fact that the landlord
and utilities company had been overbilling for utilities paymeatated to the Capitol
Heights locatiorsince 2004-Napper as ELCC’s designated representatiseceived a
reducedrent extension of the original leat® one year, until September 30, 2012

(See2011 Lease Extension and Modification, Pls.” Ex38 FOF Tbl. 488 (A); see
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alsoJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 8:19:25 (Napper’s counsel arguing that he does “not
disput[e] that Yah Kai paid the utility bills”)!} Consequently, on July 13, 2011,
Kingdom Management notified Yah Kai that it would not enter into a reasé for the
facility because the existing lease had been extendg&deKingdom Management
Letter to Yah Kai, Pls.” Ex. 39.)

One week later, oduly 20, 2011, Napper delivered to Yah Kai, Young, and the
Community a ‘Notice to Vacate’ that pertained to the Complex buildirB8gelst
Notice to Vacate, Pls.” Ex. 14A; 3d FOF Tbl. at (/& B).) The notice stated that Yah
Kai’s “rights of occupancy and possession” were terminated, and that@alpants had
three days to take their personal effects and #vd premises at 9185 Central Avenue,
Capitol Heights, Maryland. (1st Notice to Vacate, PEx. 14A)) The notice explicitly
warned that no one would “be allowed to remove any of the equipment in the building
or inventory” and that “no equipment large or small [would] be allowed out of the
building.” (Id.) This surprisingnotificationsparked a series of discussions between
Napper and the Community regarding Yah Kai’'s “continuing use of theeSgnd the
possibility of “additional compensation for . . . Napper[.]” (July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at

99:8-15 (Prince Immanuel).) But b@ctober 15, 2011, attempts to resolve the dispute

1 As noted,Pepco had been systematically oddling for utilities in the Capitol Heights retail space
ever since 2004when the Complexlownsized its space,ué to a technical glitch in the generation of
the utility bills. (SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 87:8 (Allen).) Pepco negotiated solely with Kingdom
Management on behalf of the landlord regarding the @Vsarges ¢eeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 95:#4
(Allen)), and Kingdom Management, in turn, grdontracted with Napper regarding tRepco
reimbursementdqeeid. 85:23-86:9). These negotiations occurred as part of the discussionblapater
was having with Kingdom Management regarding the renewal of thet@dpeights lease.SeeJuly

14, 2015 Tial Tr. at 195:1520 (Allen).) In October of 2011Kingdom Management executed@mal
settlement agreement with Nappearder whichthe tenant (ELCCyould be paid the rebated amotnt
the form of an offset against future rent and other payments pergaio the extended lease that
Napper himself was negotiatingSéeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 91:32:1 (Allen).)
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“amiably” had failed (d. at 100:8), and Napper sent a second Notice to Vacate; this one
was addressed to Young and Yah Kaidat expressly included “all representatives,
subordinates, associates and affiliates of Yah Kai[.]” (2d Notice taMadls.’ EX.

14B; see alsa3d FOF Thl. at 111A, B).) The noticedemandedhat these parties

vacate the premises on or before Novemb5, 2011, and, again, it noted that they were
not allowed to remove any equipmentSeg2d Notice to VacatePls: Ex. 14B; 3d FOF

Thbl. at 111(A, B).)

On the fateful night of November 15, 2011, members of the Community and
representatives of Yah Kairrived at the Capitol Heights facility with moving trucks to
remove their personal items and their own equipment and inventory fr@mprémises.
(Seeduly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 1036 (Princelmmanuel).) Napper called the police,
and when the offiaes arrived, they informed YaKai’s representatives that no
equipment would be allowed to leave theilding because Napper was the official the
tenant of the space, and that any dispute with Napper would have to be desplve
court. (Seeid. at102:21-103:6 (Prince Immanuel)see also id184:3-18 (Dr. Lee).)
Napper also requested that the police physically remove Yah Kaifegeptatives,
along with Prince Immanuel and the other Community members who had tcoassist.
(Seeduly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at02:8-12 (Napper).) The Community members and Yah
Kai representatives complied with the officers’ order to vacate temises, leaving
behindComplexrelated business records ang@lathora ofotheritemsthat Yah Kai had
createdpurchasedor built duing its management of the Complarcludingfurniture,
food products, andestauranequipment. $ee3d FOF Thbl. at 7982 (A); July 15, 2015

Trial Tr. & 103:7104:9 (Prince Immanuel)d. 185:25-186:9, 187:1#188:16(Dr.

24



Lee); YoungDep.49:18-52:2, 9812-99:6; see e.qg.,July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 9124
(Napper) (acknowledging that Yah Kai was not allowed to remove food suppées th
had bought).)

E. Napper’s Unauthorized UseOf The Everlasting Life Mark

Sincehis eviction of YahKai and other membs of the Community from the
facility formerly known as the Everlasting Life Health ComplexNovember of 2011,
Napper has comued to operate a foeslervicebusinessn that same locatiom Capitol
Heights, Maryland, under the name “Everlasting LifesR@rant and Lounge.”Sge3d
FOF Thbl.at96, 103, 106, 11314 (A, B).) Napper is the sole owner and member of a
limited liability company called “Fair and Balanced,” which he inaogied in the state
of Maryland in November of 2011, and Fair and Bakdhmanages and operates the
Everlasting Life Restaurant & Loungd-air and Balance@romotes Napper'sfood-
service business usinfe Everlasting Life nameséeEverlasting Life Restaurant &
Lounge Storefront, Def.’s Ex. 1; Promotional Events by Fair &aBnced for
Everlasting Life, Pls.” Ex. 22see alsd@3d FOF Thbl. at 12(A, B)), even thougiPrince
Immanuel hasotified Napperthat, by operating a vegan food establishment under the
name Everlasting Life in the same location as the prior EverlastifiegHealth
Complex, has infringing on Prince Immanuel’s registered tradem@de 3d FOF Thl.
at 132(A, B); see alsdDef.’s Answer to Int., Pls.” Ex. 23] 13; Trademark
Infringement Notice from Bnce Immanuel, Pls.” Ex. )5

With respect to the tradeank-infringement allegations, it is undisputed that,
back in April of 2004while the Complex was still under the Community’s control,
Prince Immanuetiled a registration for the Everlasting Life service mark with the

United States Patent & Trademark OHi¢*'USPTO"). (SeeUSPTO Service Mark
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Registration, Pls.” Ex. 1, ECF No. 29 at 2.) The registration became effective on
November 22, 2005sgeid.), oncethe statutorily required publication and examination
requirements were satisfiesge812, 15U.S.C. 81062 (“Upon the filing of an
application for registration . . . the Director shall refer the applicaboié examiner

in charge of the registration of marksn[d] . . . shall cause the mark to be published in
the Official Gazette of the Patentchiirademark Office.”). Pictured belowrince
Immanuel’sregistered trademark consists of: (i) the words “Everlasting’liffdarge
“black’ font; (ii) the words “Community Owned Cooperative”‘igreeri font; (iii) the
words “Health Complex &rganic Market” in“black’ font; and (iv) a depictiomnf

various fruits and vegetables. (USPTO Service Mark Registraiisn, Ex. 2,at 2.)

USPTO Registered Service Mark
Ser. No. 78401740

Eva fasting L |.If

HEALTH l:mml.n & ORoANIC Nh.mu:-r

Moreover, the registratiodocumentdisclainms any “exclusive right to usghe words]

Community Owned Cooperative Health Complex & Organic Market,” but no similar

disclaimer was made regarding use of the wdigerlasting Life” (Id.) The USPTO

categorized the service mark’s use as “retail grocery store foraldtaads.” (d.)
According to Prince Immanuel, the Community decided that the mark should be

registeredn orderto protect the Community’s reputation with respexservice and

food standards, given that the name “Everlasting Life” has long beeniatess with

thebusiness operationd the African Hebrew Israeliteaanmunity. (SeeJuly 15, 2015
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Trial Tr. at 133:1321, 135:24136:8 (Prince Immanuel).) Ben Apthe founder of the
Community wrote a publication nametEverlasting Lifé in 1994 €ee3d FOF Thl. at
5 (A, B)), and that termwhichis intended to refer specifically to the concept of
“restoring the natural life cycles that an individual has and poss@sseder to
prolong their life” (July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 108:@ (Prince Immanuel))is a
fundamentatenet for Community membersEven more important, the name
Everlasting Life has become directly associated with the Communitytareercial
enterprises and is inextricably intertwined with the Community’s paldicservice
standards in the realm of food establishmentee(idat 67:9-12, 131:1321, 133:3
134:7, 145:23146:8(Prince Immanugl) No other food establishment, beyond the one
presently under dispute, trades under the name Everlasting Life in.the D
metropolitanarea. §ee3d FOF Thl. ak6 (A, B).)

BecausePrince Immanuel was the Community member who registered the
Everlasting Life service mark, “no one else could authorize [its] us€[d. at 32
(A, B).) Prince Immanuel permitted the Community, including its legal enteyrise
use the registered markdeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 134:32A5 (Prince Immanuel))
but hedid not authorize Napper’s use of the name Everlasting Life in an individual
capacity or through Fair and Balancexd¢3d FOF Thbl. at 102(C)). Furthermonghen
Prince Immanuetendered thenfringement notice to Napper in November of 20h#,
statedspecifically that he was “revoking” any license that Napipad had to use the
mark, while he wasstill a member of the Community(SeeTrademark Infringement
Noticefrom Prince ImmanuelPIs! Ex. 15) Thus, any use of the mark by Napper after

he left the Communitywhich wasin “2008, 2009” by his own account (July 14, 2015
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Trial Tr. at 46:2>—was unauthorized. SeeCompl. 1 35 (“At no time since his 2008
removal asnanager of the Complex did Prince Immanuel authorize Defendant Napper

to use said [registered mark].”).)

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Counts I, Il,and Il of the @mplaint allegehree separateademarkrelated
claims against Nappe(1) federal trag@mark infringenent pursuant to Sectid3®(1) of
the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1) (Compl. 1%392); (2) unfair competition and
false designation of agin underSection43(a)if the Lanham Act15 U.S.C. §1125(a)
(id. 11 46-45); and(3) unfair competition in violabn of Marylandcommon law(id. {1
46-49). In Counts IV through V| Plaintiffs bring three additional claimander
Maryland common lawspecifically,they contendhat Nappemusurped theircorporate
opportunity(id. 1150-54 (Count IV)); breacled afiduciary duty of loyalty (d. 11 55
59 (Count V)); andconverted theiphysicalproperty(id. 11 66-64 (Count VI).

Notably, kecausea violationof abreach of fiduciary duty of loyalty is not a staatbne
legal claim under Maryland law, th Court dismissed Count Yefore trial (SeeOrder,
ECF No. 57, at 2). Aus,the subject of the bench trial whkapper’s liability for the
claims alleged irCounts | Il, IlI, IV, and VI of Plaintiff’'s complaint

As explained in detail below, this Court concludes that Ridsnhave proven by
a preponderance of the evidence that theythe valid owners dhe distinctivetrade
name andnark“Everlasting Lifé that Plaintiffsused in connection with a food service
business in this local geographic araad that Napper’s unauthorized usetlons name
with respect to the Capitol Heights faciligfter he evicted Plaintiffs from the premises

in 2011is likely to confuse consumers into believitlgat Napper’s services and
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productsare affiliated with, or sponsored hyPlaintiffs and the African Hebrew Israelite
community. This means that Napper haslated boththe Lanham Act and Marylarsl
common lawof unfair competition, as alleged in Counts I, Il, and Ill. The Court also
finds that Plaintiffs haveestablishedy a prepoderance of the evidence thidapper
intentionally exerted ownership and control owexh Kai's tangibleproperty when he
evictedYah Kai’'s representatives and other Community membetisout permitting
them to removehatproperty thereforethe element®f conversion undeMaryland
common law Count VI) arealsosatisfied However, wth respect td?laintiffs’ claim
that Napper impermissibly usurped thearporate opportunity in violation of Maryland
common law(Count IV), this Courtcondudes that, althugh Nappeacted egregiously
(andperhaps even fraudulently) in renewing the lease in his own naithe &E€EO” of
ELCC without the Community’s permissiohe never aved a duty of loyalty to either
Plaintiff in this caseas a matter of law, and thuBlaintiffs’ claim that he usurpetheir
corporate opportunity must besthissed

A. By Using TheTrade NameEverlasting Life, Napper Has Committed

Trademark Infringe ment Under The Lanham Act And Has Engaged In
Unfair Competition In Violation Of Maryland Common La w

The Lanham Actprovides a cause of actiofor “the deceptive and misleading
use of mark” and “to protect persons engaged in . . . commerce against unfair
competition.” 845,15 U.S.C. § 1127 The Act’s protectiorcovers“any word, name,
symbol, or device, or any combination thereof used by a person . to identify and
distinguish his or her goods, including a unique product, from those manufactured or
sold by others and to indicate the source of the goods, even if that sourdentsmn.”
Id. Furthermorejt is a mark’s“sourcedistinguishing ability,]” EMI CatalogueP’ship

v. Hill, Holliday, Connors, Cosmopulos In@228 F.3d 56, 62 (2d Cir. 2000i{ation
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omitted), that lies at the heart of Congress’s interest in protecting autheadiersfrom
infringers By permitting lawsuits to be brought against those who would seek to pass
off their own goods and services as that of anottier Act’sclearpurpose is “to ensure
that a product’s maker reaps the rewards of the reputation it has buiid @méble
consumers to recognize and repurchgseds with which they havereviouslybeen
satisfied.” EMI Catalogue P'ship v. Hill, Holliday, Connors, Cosmopulos. %28
F.3d 56, 62 (2d Cir. 2000) (citinQualitex Co. v. Jacobson Prod&8o., 514 U.S. §9,
164 (1995)).

A claim of unfair competition under Maryland common law has the same
impetus, and thugrademark infringemeninderthe Lanham Actaindunfair
competition undeMaryland common lavwgenerallyturn onthe samejuestion whether
or notthedefendant’s use ad markthat is substantially similar to the plaintgfis
likely to confuse the average consumer regardiregsource orféliation of the
product SeeBreaking the Chain Found., Inc. v. Capitol Educ. Support, 1589 F.
Supp. 2d 25, 29 (D.D.C. 20p8Putt-Putt, LLC v. 416 Constant Friendship, LL@36 F.
Supp.2d 648, 659D. Md. 2013)(“Under the common law of Maryland, the applicable
test for unfair competition is the same likelihood of confusion test aghpineler the
LanhamAct.” (citing Scotch Whisky Ass’n v. Mestic Distilling Ca, 958 F.2d 594, 597
(4th Cir. 1992)). Hence, “the scope of [legal protection and] exclusivity of a
trademark is coextensive with thédegree of confusion likely to result in the
consumer’s mind. 3 J. Thomas McCarthy, McCarthy ord&€naarks & Unfair
Competition (“McCarthy on Tademarks”) § 2:Q (4th ed. 2016) Moreover,while

trademark infringementlaims typicallyinvolve rival businesseactively competing in
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the same marketplaceee, e.g.Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Sears Fin.tiMerk, 576 F.
Supp. 857, 863 (D.D.C. 1983heconsumer confusiothat is the hallmark of
trademark infringemerdand unfair competitiofican result even ifthe] plaintiff’'s
product is no longer being made” or his services are no loogiegoffered McCarthy
on Trademarks § 23:&ee also Lexmark Int'l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc
134 S. Ct. 1377, 1391, 188 L. Ed. 2d 392 (20'#A] competitor who is forced out of
business by a defendast[infringing conduct] generally will be able to sto its
losses[.]”) Indeed to have gotentiallyviable claim for trademark infringemerd,
plaintiff need only show thatconsumersn the relevant product market are likely to
believe that defendant's products or services come from the same spoaree o
affiliated with plaintiff” Appleseed Found. Inc. v. Appleseed Inst.,,1881 F. Supp.
672, 6475 (D.D.C. 1997) citing Foxtrap Inc. v. Foxtrap, In¢.671 F.2d 636, 639
(D.C. Cir. 1982).

This Court has evaluated the standard tradennafrkngement and unfair
competitionfactors in the context of the disputetweenYah Kai, Prince Immanuel,
and Napper that was presentadtrial. As explained below, the evidence establishes
thatNapper has engaged in the unauthorized use of a,va&lgisteredservice marlfor
the distinctive name “Everlasting Lifgwhich Plaintiff Prince Immanuel owndn a
manner that is likely teonfuseand deceiveonsumersnto believing thaPlaintiffs
sponsoy or areaffiliated with, Napper’sfood-service establishmentThus, Plaintifs
are entitled to recover for trademark infringemantlerSections 32 and 43(a) ahe

Lanham Actandalsofor unfair competition under Maryland common law
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1. Napper's Unauthorized Use Of The Mark And Name Everlasting Life
Violates Sections32 And 43(a Of TheLanham Act

Section32 of the Lanham Actwhich is codified asection1114of Title 15 of
the United States Coderohibits the use of “any reproduction, counterfeit, copy, or
colorable imitation of a registered méarfor goods or services “without the ceant of
the registrant'in a mannefrlikely to cause confusion, . .[or] mistake, or to deceive”
the average consumeffee832, 5 U.S.C. § 114, see alsolwo Pesos, Inc. v. Taco
Cabana, Inc. 505 U.S. 763, 763 (1992) (explaining that a claim under Section 32 is
designed td'secur[e] to a marlks owner the goodwill of his businésandto prevent the
public perception that he is affiliated with the infringer’s busingésPne who
registersa tradenarkin the principal register of theSPTO is entitledto sue amalleged
infringer under Section 32Seeid. Pursuant to section 7(b) of the Acggistration also
entitlesthe registranto severalpresumptios: that themark is valid that he is the
ownerof the mark and that he has thexclusiveright use tothatmark See§ 7(b),15
U.S.C. 8§ 1057(b). Moreovetafter five years of continuous usef a registered mark,

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Samara Bro&29 U.S. 205, 2092000) (citation omitted,

2|n addition to trademarks, which apply ¢@ods,the Lanham Act provides for the registration of
servicemarks,see§ 3,15 U.S.C. 81053 which it definesas “eny word, name, symbol, or device, or
any combination thereofthata person uses or intends to use “to identify and distinguish the servic
of one person, including a unique service, from the services of ofimer$o indicate the source of the
servicesgeven if that source is unknown[,B 45, 15 U.S.C. § 1127. For all present purposies, t
Lanham Act treats service markad trademarksqually. See§ 3,15 U.S.C. §1053(“Subject to the
provisions relatingo the registration of trademarks, so far as they are applicableceemadrks shall

be registrable, in the same manner and with the same effect as are triasleamar when registered they
shall be entitled to the protection provided in this dieapn the case of trademark$; see also
Dranoff-Perlstein Assocs. v. Skla®867 F.2d 852, 855 (3d Cit992) @pplying trademark case law to a
service mark infringement claim because, f{fapugh technically distinct, the terms are often used
interchangeably, wih no significant legal consequenégs This Memorandum Opinion references both
marks, indistinguishably, asell.
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proof of registrationis conclusiveevidence of ownershjpralidity, and the right to
exclusive usesee§ 33(b)15 U.S.C. § 1115(b)

The establisheélements of a clainfor trademark oiservice mark infringement
in violation of Section32 are(1) ownership of a valid marK2) the mark’sinherent
distinctiveness oracquisition of asecondary meanirgin othe words,“an association
in the minds of the buying public between the nameand the product itself or the
sourcg,]” Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Sears Fin. Netw&k6 F. Supp. 857, 861 (D.D.C
1983)—and(3) thelikelihood of confusion mistake, or deceptiom the publiccreated
by thedefendans use of the markid. Althoughregistration is oneneans of proving
the ownershipelement a mark need not be registeraith the USPTOin order to
receive protection under federal lawor must the plaintiff who seeks to britige
infringement action be the owner of the mark in questi®his is becaus&ection 43(a)
of the Lanham Acestablishes cause of actiofor infringementof anunregistered
mark, and theSection 43(apption,which requires proof oélements thainirror a claim
for infringement under Sectiod?2, is available td‘any person who believes that he or
she is or is likely to be damaged [aydefendant’s] act See§ 43(a),15 U.S.C.

8§ 1125(a)(permiting any servicer omproducerto sue another for the use ‘@ny word,
term, name, symbol, or devicetr any combination thereof . . . which . . . is likely to

cause confusion . . . as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his or hef ybobds

B The scope of protection afforded by Section 32 and Section 43(a) is ndanlycal; the primary, and
perhaps even the sole, distinction between Sections 32 and 43fa) fshe former section requires
registraton of the mark at issue, while the latter does.’hddreaking the Chain Found., Inc. v. Capitol
Educ. Support, Inc589 F. Supp. 2d 25, 29 (D.D.C. 2008Fhus, the registrant of a registered mark

can bring actions under either or both Sections 32 &{d)4see, e.g Am. Assn for Advancement of

Sci. v. Hearst Corp 498 F. Supp. 244, 261 (D.D.C. 1980); however, the appropriate cause of action for
unregistered marks and noagistrant users of registered marks (including licenseesgdsich 43(a),
seePartido Revolucionario Dominicano (PRD) Seccional Metropolitana de Washir@nMaryland

y Virginia v. Partido Revolucionario Dominicano, Seccional de Maryland y Virgi8ie& F. Supp. 2d
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It is clear beyond cavil thatsahe individual registramf the Everlasting Life
service markPrince Immanueis the only plaintiff with the right to recover for
trademark infringement und&ection32. See Globalaw452 F.Supp.2d at 25 (“[B]y
its verytext, a Section 32(1glaim—unlike a Section 48laim—contemplates that a
‘registration’ has occurred and that a ‘registrant’ is seekintpaeremedies.”).But
Yah Kaiis eligible torecover alongvith Prince ImmanuetinderSection43(a) and
because these Plaintiffs have establistteelements of a federal infringemeciaim
under Sections 32 and 43(a) of the Lanham @stliscussed belgwhis Court finds that
theyare entitled to judgment in their favor on Counts | and Il of theglaint.

a. Plaintiffs Prince Immanuel Ad Yah Kai Own A Valid Mark

With respect to the issue of ownership of the mark and n&taéntiffs maintain
that they are the owners and first users of the téfwerlasting Life” in connection
with their restaurant anfibod-service busines®s evideoedby the Community’s
openingof the Everlasting LifeaCo-Opin 1995 and Plaintiff Prince Immanuel’s
subsequentegistrationof the “Everlasting Life” service mar&n the federal registen
2005 (See3d FOF Thl. at 26, 28 (A).)This Court agreesFirstof all, there is no
dispute that, based on tesidence presented at tridrince mmanuelregisteredhe
Everlasting Lifeservicemark on November 22, 2005SeeUSPTO Service Mark
RegistrationPls.” Ex. 1,at 2) Proof of thisregistrationqualifies asprima facie

evidence ofPrince Immanuel’®wnershipof the markand hisexclusive right to use the

1,at *11 (D.D.C. 2004)X“Courts have concluded that [Section 43(a)] provides a cause of dctiidre
licensee of a trademark or tradename against a competitor for impuspesf the licensed mark. $ee
alsoQuabaug Rubber Co. v. Fabiano Shoe Co.,. |®67 F.2d 154 (1st Cil977) fpermitting a
licenseeto sue under Section 48) to enforce trademark rightsytanfield v. Osborne Indus52 F.3d
867, 873 (10th Cir1995) (“[T]he plaintiff need not be the owner of@gistered trademark in order to
have standig to sue” undeBection 43(a)).
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mark in commerceand it alsomeans that thenark ispresumptivelyalid. Thus, in and
of itself, the registratiogoes a log way toward demonstratingat Plaintiff Prince
Immanuel is the rightful owner of a valiEVerlasting Life” service markSee, e.g.,
Yellow Cab Co. of Sacramento v. Yellow Cab of Elk Grove, #1Q F.3d 925, 928 (9th
Cir. 2005)(“In essence, the registration discharges the pif&iis original common law
burden of proving validityand ownershipjn an infringement action.(internal
guotation marks and citation omitted)).

Although Yah Kai does not enjothe presumptions afforded by Prince
Immanuels registration, itderives itsownership inerest in the markrom Prince
Immanuel’s licensef the markto it, bothindividually andas a representative tlie
Community See Partido Revolucionario Dominicano (PRD) Seccional Metropolitana
de Washagton-DC, Maryland y Virginia v. Partido Revolucionario Dominicgno
Seccional de Maryland y Virginjé812 F. Supp. 2d Jat *12 (D.D.C. 2004)(hereinafter
“PRD") (holding thatplaintiff established ownership under Section 43(a) solely based
on a norexclusive license grantdd it by registrantwhereas defendant failed to show
ownership because he wast authorized to use the mark). In addition, based on the
evidence presented at tridhe Court is persuadatiatthe Community and Prince
Immanuel were the first users of the mark and @amcommerce starting in 1995
fact Napper does not contesand, therefore Plaintiffs hold superior rights at common
law that establish their exclusive ownership of the mark and entrust themheitegal
power to prevent junior users (such as Nappernfinfringing upon said markSee
McCarthy on Trademarks 8 1650 ([l]t is not registration, but only actual [first] use

of a designation as a mark that creates rights and priority over djhesse alsdJnited
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Drug Co. v. Theodore Rectanus.C248 U.S. 90, 100 (1918) (explaining tlt] he
general rule is that, as between conflicting claimants to the righteadhessame mark,
priority of appropiation determines the questign Plaintiff Prince Immanuel testified
that he was a Community member and leader in 1888that heworked with others to
direct the opening of the Community’s first Everlasting Life restaurg8eeJuly 15,
2015 Trial Tr.at 61:26-63:18) And although Yah Kai did not exist as a separate legal
entity back then, it can still be deemed a priority us@sed orthe uncontroverted fact
that the @mmunity establishetah Kai (which is comprised solely of Community
member3} for the very purpose adcting ashe Community’s successom-interest with
respect tausingthe Everlasting Lifemarkin conjunction with the operation of the
Everlastirg Life Health Comple)usinessand Yah Kai’'s exclusive use of the mark
beginning in 2009 undoubtedly predates Napp&sisnationof the Everlasting Life
Restaurant & Lounge (through Fair and Balanced) in 2011.

Notably, the Lanham Act provides that an alleged infringer, suditiagper may
seek tochallengethe ownership and validityf aregistered markursuant to the
statutoryand equitablaelefenses and defects laid out iacsion33. See§ 33,15U.S.C.
8 1115 seealsolowa Farmers Union vFarmers Educ. &Co-Op. Union, 247 F.2d

809, 818 (8th Cir. 1957(explainingthat the defendant bears the burden of proof with

¥ When analyzing priority of use in order to determine ownership rightsmark or namat common
law, a user can rely on his or her predecesreinterest’s first use to establish seniority (and
superiority) of rights over a junior useSeg e.g., SCM Corp. v. Langis Foodsd., 539 F.2d 196, 198
(D.C. Cir. 1976)(plaintiff was the successor to the original plaintiff, who inntuvas the successaon-
interest to the first user of the mark in the United States, arsdallawed to rely on his predecessor’s
first use); JDR Indus.v. McDowel| 121 F. Supp. 3d 872, 883 (D. Neb. 2015) (priority of use was
established through an unbroken chain of use in commercdgintiff] and its predecessoia-
interest['s first use]”). Here, the Court finds that Yah Kai is thiecessotin-interest to the
Community with respect to the management of the Complex.

36



respect to asserted statutory defensesltardtham Act infringement claimPaleteria
La Michoacana, Inc. v. Productos Lacteos Tocumbo S.A. De CWVF. Supp. 3d 60, 73
(D.D.C. 2015) ¢tating that théefendant bears burden of proviagquiescencdaches,
and equitable estoppel)This Court construes Napper’s trial testimony and written
submissions as aattemptto launch such a challengle claims, among other things,
thathe usedhe Everlasting Lifemark prior toPrince Immanuel’'segistrationof it; that
equitable principles odcquiescence, estoppel, and lachas a claim of infringement
andthatPrince Immanuehasabarmonedthe mark. (See Def.’s COL at 812; 2d Am.
Answer, ECF No. 21, at 6.pee als®8 33(b)(2), (b)(5), (b)(9)15U.S.C.
881115(b)(2), (b)(%, (b)(9). This Court acknowledges Nappenmlianteffort to rebut
the presumption thahe law affords to Prince Immanuel’s registration certificate, but it
findsthat Napperhas fallen far shordf satisfyinghis burden of proof with respect to
establishing any otheseaffirmative defensesfor several reasons

First of all, in orderto satisfy the elements & prior usedefenseNapper must
show, at a minimum?¥(1) that[he] adopted the mark without knowledge of plaintsff
.. .use; (2) thafhis] use predates plaintif§ registrationfand] (3) that its use in the
disputed area has been continuous since thaf fitné&oxtrap, Inc, 671 F.2dat 640.
Napperinsists that he has been using the phrase “Everlasting Life” in commia s
1995with respect to an unincorporated food business that he says he owns in his
personal capacitysee3d FOF Thbl. at 125 (A), 134 (Bkee alsaluly 14, 2015 Trial Tr.
at 14017-148:22 (Napper))butthis Court deemshatassertion of facsimply not
credible and regardlesghe Court findsthat Napr' s story fails to satisfyhe elements

of a prior use defensdecauseherecord evidence clearlgemonstrateshat Napper
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knewthat Communitymembers, includindgpimself and Prince Immanuekereusingthe
mark in the operation of th€o-Op and Complexat or around the same time as he
claims to have adopted. iNappertestified as muchhe expressly stated thathenhe
allegedlyadoptedthe name Everlasting Lifeor his separatendividual businesshe was
managing he EverlastingCommunityCo-Op in thesame space and at the same time
(Seeduly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 140:3148:22 (Naper) (claiming herana bushess
from 1995 until 2000, whicloperated in the rearf the Co-Op and within the Complex
as operated by the Communjty Thus, Napper has failed to demonstrate that he was
unaware of the Community’s use of the name, as thar piIse defense require®hat
is more the recordalsoreveals thaNapper’salleged personalse ofthe markhasnot
beencontinuous insofar ashewas removed from management of then@plex(the
purported homebase of his personal business)February of 2008andhe sold the
D.C.Co-Opin 2008 or 2009 (Seeid. at74:25-76:9, 128:511 (Napper) see also supra
Part 111.C (explaining that Ngger was not involved in the GOp and Complex from
2004 to 2007, and from 2008 to 2011

This Court is also not persuaded thia¢ equitable pnciplesthatNapper seeks
to rely uponto defend against the infringement claiare available tdnim in the
context of this caseTo establishacquiescenceor example Napper must showhat
“the plaintiff actively representdthe] would not assert aght or clain,]” Angel Flight
of Ga., Inc. v. Angel Flight Am., Inc522 F.3d 1200, 1207 (11th CRO008) (citation
and quotation omittedandsimilarly, to establish laches defendant needs to
demonstratehat “plaintiff had knowledge of defendastuse of its marksand

“inexcusably delayed in taking action with respect theteWtcCarthy on Trademarks
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§ 31:1 (citation and guotation marks omittedSee generallAngel Flight of Ga, 522
F.3d at 1207“The difference between acquiescence and lach#saislaches denotes
passive consent and acquiescence denotes active con@eterhal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingCoach House Rest., Inc. v. Coach & Six Restaurants, 9%z F.2d
1551, 1558 (11th Cir. 199))) But Napper’'s evidence at trialwhich consisted
exclusively of his own testimonydid notestablishthat Prince Immanueéver
consented to Napperiasdividual use of the markn connection with hiown
businessesitheractivelyor passively;and indeedPlaintiffs’ proved that the oppost
wastrue: Prince Immanueimmediatelysent Napper a ceasaddesist letteron the eve
of the eviction when he realized that Napper intended to take over the Complex and
operate it as his owrséeTrademark Infringement Notice from Prince Immanuel, PIs.’
Ex. 19, and Prince Immanuel alszredibly testified thahe was unaware th&tapper
was operating an independent business andusagythe Everlasting Life mark in
connection with higpersonal (garagéounded businessgeeduly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at
57:1-14 (Prince Immanue)) This Court’s conclusiothat Prince Immanuel did not
acquiesce to Napper’s personal use of the naaik did notevenknow that Nappemwas
using it in connection with his own individual business interéassuming that he was)
is entirely consistent with the record facts regarding the Communityi\sefearbelief in
collective ownershipgee, e.g.July 15, 2015 Trial Trat55:25-56:12 106:3-11

(Prince Immanuel)id. at 162:11-24 (Dr. Lee)) and it also creditdlappets own
admissiam that he never tolédny member othe Community about his alleged
independenbusinesgsee3d FOF Thl. at 97A, B) (“Napper never disclosed to

members of the [Community] that he was operating a business in his garage
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It is also clear thaany expras or implied license that could possibly have been
granted to Napper when he used the mark to manage the Community’s business
enterprises has been revoke(Bee Trademark Infringement Notice from Prince
Immanue] PIs! Ex. 15 ({S]ince we are no longer ipartnership | am hereby revoking
your license to use the Everlasting Life trademark effeanvaediately in any locale
or medium.’).) And given thatthe“gravamen” of estoppel is an “intentiomgal
misleading representatifjii regarding plaintiff's abstention from suit upon which the
defendant relies to hisetriment Petrella v. MetreGoldwynMayer, Inc, 134 S. Ct.
1962, 1977 (2014)xhere is ndegal orevidentiay basis for Napper’s suggestitimat
Prince Immanuehasabandoned the mark by licang it to the Community without any
exercise of oversight or controdr that, by virtue of his actions, Prince Immanuel
shouldsomehowbe estopped fromsserting his right to exclusive use of the mark now
(seeDef.’s COL at 9-13). To the contraryPrince Immanuel testifiethat, in hisrole as
the local Community leadehe maintained continuous oversighteo the Everlasting
Life HealthComplex’s operations and management from its inceptran Plaintiffs’
eviction in 2011 ¢eeduly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 129:830:1) and that he authorized
various Community membets use the marlprecisely and solelpecausef their
assigned roles with respect to the businesses and their adherence tontherGty’s
service and food preparatiatandardsgee id 146:3-8). Nor did Yah Kaiabandon its
use of the mark at any point during its management of the Com@ther, aghe
Community’s representativé,ah Kai received Prince Immanuel’s blessing to use the
mark when that legal entity was formed 2009 (seeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 134:13

15 (Prince Immanuel)YoungDep.57:2-58:13, andPlaintiffs broughtthis
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infringementsuit against Napper immediately after he evidiieeimand other members
of the Community from the premises anddanoperating the restauraand using the
mark independently. $ee generallyCompl.)

Thus, this Court finds that Napper’s contention that Plaintéfsresented or
asserted (eher impliedly or expresshythat they would not pursue a legal action again
him for his unauthorized use of the maskbaseless And not only has Napper failed to
meethis burden of proving any of theatutorydefenses raisedhut the presumptios of
ownership, exclusive use, and validity tlixince Immanués$ proof of registrationof
the term“Everlasting Life” raisesaresufficient to establisithat thePlaintiffs owned a
valid trademark and had an exclusive right to thes mark in commerce with respect to
the frvices provided by the Complex.

b. The Term Everlasting Lifks InherentlyDistinctiveln This
Context

Plaintiffs also establishedby a preponderance of the eviderpresented at trial
thatthe phrase “Everlasting Life’s entitled to trademark protection because it is
inherently distinctivewhen used in relation ta retail foodserviceestablishment See
Blinded Veterans Ass’n v. Blinded American Veterans Founda8éa F.2d 1035, 1039
(D.C. Cir.1989) (“The existence and extent of trademark protection for a particular
term depends on that term’s inherent distineness’).

As a general matter, alords or phrase used as marks with respect to goods
and services can be characterized as fitting into one ofdategories of distinctiveness
(arbitrary or fancifu] suggestivedescriptive or generiqg and accordngly, are deemed
entitled to stronger or weaké&rademark protectionSee d. Arbitrary marks are words

or phraseghat in no way describe or h@aany “intrinsic connectionto the particular
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product/service it is meant to identjfgnd thusare inheratly distinctive. Id. at 1040
see, e.g.Appleseed Found981 F. Suppat 675 (finding the mark “Appleseed”
arbitrary when used in connection with a pprofit's legal “public advocacy” servicégs
Similarly, while suggestive markdo imply some characteristic or quality of the
product/service to which they are attachddhe consumer must use imagination or any
type of multistage reasoning to understand the mark’s significance,ttiegmmark too,
is considered sufficientlgistinctiveto beafforded protection from infringing useSee
Blinded Veterans872 F.2d at 104(citation omitted). Descriptive markare deserving
of less protection under the Lanham Act becahey directly identify or describe some
aspect, characteristic, or quality of the product/service to whichahewffixed in a
straightforward way that requires no exercise of imagination to bersioa. See id

at 103940 (explaining that,’[b]ecaug descriptive terms are thus not inherently
distinctive, they acquire trademark protection only upon proof of secondary ngeanin
i.e., upon proof that the public recognizes only one source of the product or Service
(citing Kellogg Co. v. NationaBiscuit Go., 305 U.S. 111, 118 (1938))And the marks
that receive the least protection under the Lanham Act (nameethose thaaredeemed
“generic¢ insofar as theyirectly “refer[] to the genus of which thearticular product is
a species. Park‘N Fly, Inc. v. Dollar Park & Fly, Inc 469 U.S. 189, 1941985); see,
e.g, Blinded Veterans872 F.2d at 1041 (mark “Blinded Veterans” was generic when
used to “refers to former members of the armed forces who have losvisiein”);

Nat'| Conf. of Bar Exanrs v. Multistate Legal Studie$92 F.2d 478, 488 (7tGir.
1982),cert. denied 464 U.S. 814 (1983) (mark “Multistate Bar Examination” was

generic when used to refer to “a test prepared for determining the coropeten
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applicants tohlie bars of the several states™)Because a generic term denotes the thing
itself, it cannot be appropriated by oparty from the public domain[, and]therefore
is not afforded trademark protection even if it becomes assalcvaite only one
source” Blinded Veterans872 F.2dat 10391

It is well established that thegistration of a mark iprima facieevidence of its
distinctivenesssee Am. Assén for Advancement of Sci. v. Hearst Cqor$98 F. Supp.
244, 256 (D.D.C. 19®); thus, by virtue of Prince Immanuel’s registratioime mark
“Everlasting Lifé is presumptivelydistinctive This means thalapperbears the
burden of rebutting this presumption by a preponderance of the evidenarythis
burden, he must shothat, despite its registratiothe mark was (or has become)
generig andtherefore, isnot entitled toprotection. See Colt Def. LLC v. Bushmaster
Firearms, Inc, 486 F.3d 701, 705 (1st Cir. 20QAjellow Cah 419 F.3d at 928

In this regard Napper arges thathe phrasé Everlasting Lifé is a genericterm
that is commonly'used by religious organizations and other spiritual groyp€f.’s

COL at 13), and thug is not entitled to trademark protecti¢gsee id at 13-15).

15 |n this Circuit, “the test for genericness is whether the mupéirceives the term primarily as the
designation of the artic[d” Blinded Veterans872 F.2d at 1041 For example, ‘washing machine’ is
a generic term; ‘MAYTAG' is dprotectabé] trademarkfor a particular brand of washing machine.”
Heroes, Inc. v. Boomer Esiason Hero's Found., IlNn. CIV. A. 961260, 1997 WL 335807, at *2
(D.D.C. June 6, 1997gnsamendedNo. CIV.A. 961260, 1997 WL 350097 (D.D.C. June 16, 1997)
When commoty-used words are selected to designate the source of a product or service,hawvert
found the “Who are yoa-What are you?” test particularly instructive to distilgfugeneric from non
generic terms. Under this analysis, “[mprkanswers the buyer’s gstions Whoare you?Wheredo
you come from?’ Whovouchesor you?’” McCarthy on Trademark§ 12:1 (emphasis added). By
contrast, the[genericlname of tle product answers the questioWhatare you?'id. (emphasis
added). So, for example, “APPLE &sgeneric name for the edible fruit of the apple tree, butis a
trademark for computers[,Jand “BICYCLE is a generic name for the tweheeled vehicle, but has
been a trademark since 1885 for playing cards|]g’; see also id(providing several other exaples,
including that “CATERPILLAR is a generic name for the larva ofudtérfly, but is a trademark for
earth moving equipment” and “SANDALS is a generic name for wareather footwear, but is a
service mark for a chaiof Caribbean resort hotels”).
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Napper’'s argument misses therk, however, because everféverlasting life” is
common phrasen religious circlesthe genericnature of a term fothe purpose of the
trademarkinfringementanalysismust beevaluatedn the contextof theservice or
goodsto which the term is beingpplied SeeMcCarthy on Trademark8 12:1 (‘{T]o
propely be called an unprotectable ‘generic nametrademark law, the designation
must be the namef the same product or servieeich it is alleged to identify the
source of. Certainly, a term can Aegeneric name of one thing but be a valid trademark
for someother product.”(emphasis added)see, e.g.Eurotech, Inc. v. Cosmos
European Travels Aktiengesellschaltl3 F. Supp. 2d 612, 620 n.{6.D. Va. 2002)
(rejecting as fallacious the argument that becabsentord “Cosmos’is commonly

used to identifythe universe, it cannot be a used as a-genericmark for travel
agency services)Napper does notaphdapparently cannotjontend thathe term
“Everlastirg Life” is commonly usedn the restaurant or foodervices industryor that
the public typically perceives thahraseas primarily designating restaurant services.
And, indeed,it is precisely becausthis Court finds that the phras&verlasting Lifé

is not ordinarily associated with the provision of fo@dd is, at mos{ suggestiveof
vegan,healthymeals)that theCourtconcludeghat Napper has failed to rebut the
presumption thathe markis inherently distinctive with respect to the products and
services of a vegan restaurant or grocery storeistitereforeis entitled to trademark
protection SeeEurotech, Inc. 213 F. Supp. 2d at 620 n.16 (noting thatrigly
because a word is commoniysed does not render it generic. Rather, many commonly
used terms receive Laam Act protectiorwithin a particular industry: ‘Delta’ faucets,

‘Polo’ clothing, and ‘Apple’ computer$; accordAppleseed Found981 F. Supp. at
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675 n.3 (“[T]hird party uses [outside plaintiff’s market]” do not “weaken]] the
distinctiveness of platiff’s mark within [its]field” of usé.
c. There Is A Strong Likelihood That Consumers Will Believe That

Plaintiffs Sponsor, Or Are Affiliated With, NappeGoodsAnd
Services

The most salient consideration with respect to the trademérkgement claims
at issue herés whetherNapper’s continued use of the “Everlasting Life” mark risks
confusing the public.SeeTwo Pesos, In¢ 505 U.S. at 780 (Stevens, J., concurring)
(“[T]he test for liability is likelihood of confusion: ‘[U]nder theanham Act [§ 43(a)],
the ultimate test is whether the public is likely to be deceived or confuséteb

similarity of the marks.”” (second and third alterations in original) (citatbmitted))
Notably, as mentioned, there need not be direct competition between Psaamidf
Napper in order for “source confusion” to arise; rather, thiouohate circumstance
occurswhenever‘consumersn the relevant product market are likely to believe that
defendants products or services come from the same soore@ee affiliated with
plaintiff.” Appleseed Foud. 981 F.Supp. at674-75 (citation omitted) seeAMP Inc.
v. Foy, 540 F.2d 1181, 1184 (4th Cir. 197@6)T]he protection received by a
registrants trademark is not limited to cases of unfair competition, and exists betwee
parties not in competition with each other.”Jhe Lanham Ack aimis to prevent the
public “from being confused as to the sponsorship of goods or services purghased
which protecs the mark’s owner from being “harmed by such popular confusion
because inferior service by thefimger might beattributed to the registrarit. AMP,
540 F.2d at 1184accordBurger King Corp. v. Masan710 F.2d 14801493(11th Cir.

1983)(same) And thatkind of harmful confusions precisely whaPrince Immanuel

and Yah Kai say is happenirgre.
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Specifically,Plaintiffs contend that Napper is selling his prod&iahd services
usinga copy of Plaintiffs’ distinctive marKseePls.” COL at D-11); is operating in the
“exact same facility with the exact same signagd” 4t 12) andis availing himself of
Plaintiffs’ prior business, including itsemployees, its good will, its menus, its
customer lists and its equipmér(id. at 11), all while intentionallyconcealing his
ousting of the Communityo freeride on Plaintiffsreputation §ee id at 11-12). (See
alsoJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 131:3133:21 (Prince Immanueééstifyingthat his mark
wasintended to protect Plaintiffddusinesgeputationand among other thingsensure
that its useby third-partiesis conditional upon strict adherence to thell-known
“standards and practicesissociated with their products and services).)

Based orthe evidence presented at trial and the various fatbatsD.C. Circuit
precedent establishdégsr evaluatingthe existence and degree of consumer confysion
this Court wholeheartedly ages.

There are seven factors that the D.C. Circuit has found relevant toalim&oen
of consumer cofusion for Lanham Act purposey1) the strength of the plaintiff's
mark; (2) the degree of similarity between the two marks; (3) the proxioiithe
products; (4) evidence of actual confusion; (5) the defendgnitpose or reciprocal
good faith in adopting its own mark; (6) the quality of defendaptoduct; and (7) the
sophistication of the byers” Globalaw, 452 F. Supp. 2d at 48 (citations orad).
“IN]one of [these]s individually determinative and not all. . must be given equal
weight or be present in every cf§é Paleteria La Michoacana, Inc. v. Productos
Lacteos Tocumbo SA. De C,89 F.Supp.3d 175, 198 (D.D.C. 2014)Here, theCourt

findsthat mark strengththe degree of similarity between the protected mark and the
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allegedly infringing mark, anthe products’ proximityare particularly relevant factors
and each compels the conclusion thatgyar’'s continued use of the “Everlasting Life”
mark creates significantrisk of consumer confusion, for the following reasons.

Firstand foremostthe “Everlasting Life” mark is a strongand that the public
has long identified with théood products thathe AfricanHebrew Israelite community
hasintroduced into the marketplacgSeesupraPart IV.A.1.h see alsaluly 15, 2015
Trial Tr. at131:1121, 133:18 (Prince Immanugl(explaining thatEverlasting Life
“has become known to be attached to” the Communityigs“commercial
enterprisgs]” in the healthyfood realn).) “[T]he relative strength of a mark is
determned by weighing two aspects of strength: (1) Conceptual Strength: thenpdac
of the mark on the spectrum of marks; and (2) Commercial Strergghmarketplace
recognition value of the mark.” McCarthy dmademarks 8§ 23:40:50. h& mark
Everlasting Lifeis conceptually strong because itiherently distinctivan the context
of a vegan fooeserve establishment, as the Court has alreadygluded. See supra
Part IV.A.1.bh This markis also commercially strondpecausehe Court believes the
uncontroverted testimongf Plaintiffs witnessegegardingthe public’s recognition of
the Community and its healthy food standards in relation to the term and mark
Everlasting Life. (SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 131:321, 133:18 (Prince
Immanuel).)

In addition,the similarity between the Community’s mark and Napper’s trade
nameis unmistakable. The phrase “Everlasting Life” is the key distingugsheature
of Napper’'s restauramame(“Everlasting Life Restaurant and Loungeivhich means

thatthe nameahatNapper has selected is virtually identical to Yah Kai’s trade name
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“Everlasting Life” and Prince Immanuel®ervice mark, “Everlasting Lifélealth
Complex” SeeAutoZone, Inc. v. Tandy Cor873 F.3d 786, 795 (6th Cir. 2004)THe
similarity of the senior and junior marks a factor of considerable weight(internal
guotation marks and citation omittgd)To be surethe logo that Napper apparently
includes orhis advertising materials does not include the words “Community Owned
Cooperative” or the phrase “Health Complex & Organic Market,amsears orthe
compositemark that Prince Immanuel registerechd the fruits and vegetables that are
part of Prince Imnanuel’smark have beeromitted (SeeDef.’s COL at 8;see alsaluly
14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 39:46 (Napper’s counsel arguing “my client has never used that
service mark. . . . He’s using the term ‘Everlasting Life,” different fontsfruits, nuts
and beries”)). But Napper is wrong to insist that thediéferencesthwart a finding of
consumer confusiofor the purpose of thmfringement analysisbecausetiis well
established thatfe]xact similitude is not required between defendiashtmark and the
[plaintiff]’s registered mdks for there to be infringemefit.U.S. Olympic Comm. v.
Int'l Fed'n of Body BuildersNo. 81969, 1982 WL 917454, at *13 (D.D.C. Dec. 1,
1982) This is becaus€fi]f the ‘dominant’ portion of both marks is the same, then
confusian may be likely, notwithstanding peripheral differencadcCarthy on
Trademarks 8§ 23:44. Anich any event,;the comparison between marks is made in
light of what happens with consumers in the marketplace, not by viethangharks
sideby-side in a vacuum.”Paleteria La Michoacana69 F. Supp. 3d at 198.

Whenthis Court considerthe realities of the consumer experienteéhas no
doubtthat all but the most discerning consumer would easily mistake Napparls

andrestauranfor (a perhaps updadeversion oj Plaintiffs’ Everlasting Life Health
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Complex And this is especially so given that Napper’s vegan food business is
operatingin the same physical spaes the former Complex, and thus, is in the closest
possible proximity to Plaintf§’ prior productsand services SeeBrennaris, Inc. v.
Brennans Rest., L.L.G.360 F.3d 125, 134 (2d Cir. 2004) (“In the restaurant industry,
especially where individual restaurants rather than chains are compghiysjcal
separation [or lack thereofleems particularly significant to the inquiry into consumer
confusion.”) Furthermoreit appears that Nappactuallyhas soughto capitalizeon

the customerconfusion that this similarity and proximityndoubtedly createswhen

the Community and Yah Kai weroperating the Complexhe name “Everlasting Life”
was prominently displayed on a sign on the outside oCagitol Heightsbuilding;
Napper retained that same stgnnaltered—when he took over the business in 2011,
and has utilized it imdvertising the Restaurant & LoungeSeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr.
at 141:25143:5 (Prince Immanuelsee alscEverlasting Life Restaurant & Lounge
Storefront, Def.’s Ex. 1; Promotional Events by Fair & Balanced for EvemasLife,
Pls.” Ex. 22.)

Undaunted, Napper’s counskasstruggled valiantlyto convince this Courthat
there is nothing untoward about Napper’s continuation of a restaurant busiagss th
Nappets view, he himselfcreated (See, e.g.Def.’s COL at 15 (“[Napperis providing
the same gods and services he has always provided to the public. . . . The public is
purchasing the same goods, from the same business, and the same proprietor, as
always has.”); July 16, 2016 Trial Tr. at 33:2&3:1 (Napper’s counsel) (“There’s no
evidence of deeption or any attempt to mislead the public in this case. My client has

been doing the same thing for the past 20 yearsl’)at 35:13-14 (“My client is simply
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continuing to operate his business.”But far from exonerating Nappevith respect to
his audacioususeof the same protected name that Plaintgfsviously had used to sell
similar productsdefensecounsel’s arguments onbBerved tounderscore the pointFor
example,counsel repeatedly emphasizedttlrather than establishingreew, compeahg
enterprise Napper iscurrentlyoperating “thesamebusiness . . [that haspeen in the
sameplace using theamename that was being used prior to the trademark
registration” (July 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 39:472 (emphasis addeyl)which, counsel
assertedmeansthat“[t]he foodoriginates from the sam@ace it always &[s]’ (id. at
42:15-17). (See alsDef.’s COL at 19 (“[T]he customers are getting the same products
from the same busin€sk’).) Counsel apparentltook this tackin an dtemptto dispel
any notionthat there ardood-quality differencesnow that Nappers at the helmbut
this declaredsamenesalso amounts to aadmission (and conclusive evidence)toé
factthat Napper'ssontinueduse of thename“Everlasting Life” creates anuntenable
risk of confusing the publicinto believing that the African Hebrew Israelite community
still sponsors, or is affiliated with, the goods and services being offd?etlanother
way, no matter how astuteegan consumenmnight be when it comes to evaluating
marketed food products, fans of the Communitgener Complexhave no reason to
believe thathe sourceof the food thaNapperis currentlyselling at the Capitol
Heights facilityhas changed-even though it has-andthe factthat the menu and other
offerings have largely remained the sammakes itmorelikely that consumersvill be
confusedabout who is vouching for the goods and services offatetiat facility, not
less SeeMcCarthy on Trademarks 33:20:50 (“[A]s the degree of similarity of the

goods of the parties increases, ‘the degree of similarity [of the shadcessar[y] to
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support a conclusion of likely confusion declines.” (first and secondatitens in
original) (quotingFossil Inc. v. Fossil Grp 49 U.S.P.Q.2d 1451 (T.T.A.B. 1998))

The bottom line is thisthe fact that Napper isow using avirtually identical
nameasthe distinctive, protectedervicemark thatPlaintiffs own andpreviouslyused
in orderto marketvirtually identical products and services from the exact same location
where Plaintiffs once operated is a clear indication that the averagencensilikely
to be confused into believing that Napper’s Everlasting Life Restdwaad Lounges
affiliated with, or sponsoredy, the Community and PlaintiffsAnd because of the
Court’snear certaintythat consumers wil{mistakenly)think thatNapper’s foodservice
businesss one of the enterprises that is owned and operated by the African Hebrew
Israelites this Court finds thatNapper has committed trademarkringement in
violation of the Lanham Actas Plaintiffs’ maintan in Counts | and Il of their
complaint.

2. Napper’'s Conducflso Amounts To Unfair Competition Under
Maryland Common Law

The Court’sanalysisof Plaintiffs’ Lanham Act claimgompels theconclusion
that Napper haalso violatedhe unfair competition principles dlaryland common
law. “T he essentiatlement ofunfair competitionis deceptior’, GAl Audio of New
York, Inc. v. Columbia Broad. Sys., In840 A.2d 736, 748 (Md. Ct. Spec. Apl275),
andthe cause ofactionextendsto “all cases of unfair compi¢ion in the field of
busines’ under the principle thdiho one, especially a trader, is justified in damaging
or jeoparazing anothers business by fraud, deceit, trickery or unfair methods of any

sorf,]” Baltimore Bedding Corp. v. Mose34 A.2d 338, 34ZMd. 1943) Consistent
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with this view, Maryland courts have broadly construed the type of conidhattcan
trigger liability for the tort ofunfair competition, notinghat
[w] hat constitutes unfair competition in a given case is governed by its
own particular facts and circumstancelSach case is a law unto itself,
subject, only, to the general principle that all dealings must be done on
the basis of common honesty and fairness, without taint of fraud or

deceptionWherever, in any case, these elements of fair trade are found
to be lacking equity will grant protection against the offending party.

Significantly for present purposeBlarylandcourts havdong held that
“persisting in the use of the corporate ndmfeanother]without modification of any
kind, when, before it started operatioitshad been given reasda believe through
timely protest that its continued use of the name would probably createscom
amounting o unfair competition” is amnequivocalindication ofwrongful and deceitful
intent and thus warrans liability for unfair competition Id. at 345. It is also clear
beyond cavilthata claim for unfair competition under Maryland common law
ultimately rests upon the same findin§“likelihood of confusion” that is required
under the Lanham Acts previoushdiscussed.See PutfPutt, LLC v. 416 Constant
Friendship, LLGC 936 F. Supp. 2d 648, 659 (D. Md. 2013) (“Under the common law of
Maryland the applicable test for unfair competition is the same likelihood of confusio
test applied under the Lanham Act(titing Scotch Whisky Ass’'n v. Majestic Distilling
Co. 958 F.2d 594, 597 (4th Cir. 1992))).

This Court has no doubt that the facts and circumstances of Napper’s business
practices as laid out ithis Court’s findings of facamountto unfair competitionn
violation of Maryland common laywandthis conclusion is rooted, in particular, in the

Court's daermination thatPlaintiffs have shown a likelihood of confusion arising from
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Napper'sunauthorizeduse of the protected mark and nahteserlasting Lifé after he
evictedthemfrom the premises thatnce housed th€omplex. See suprdart IV.A.1.
Thus judgment wil be entered in Plaintiffs’ favor with respect to Count Il of the
complaint

B. Napper Converted Plaintiff Yah Kai's Property When He Evicted Them
From The Capitol Heights Location

In addition tomaking thetrademark infringementelatedallegationsdiscused
above Plaintiffs havealso accusg Napper ofhaving converddtheir property when he
evictedthem and other members of the Community from the Capitol Heights facility.
(SeeCompl.160-64 (Count VI). For the reasons explained beloand based othe
evidence pesented at trial, ik Court easilyfinds that (at least with respect to Ydai)
Plaintiffs’ conversioncontentionhas been sustained.

1. Napper Intentionally Exerted Control Over Tangible Items Yah Kai
Owned, And He Did So Without Yah Kai’'s Consent

Under Maryland law, the tort of conversion consis$ two elementg] a
physical act combined with a certain state of min@arcars Motors of Silver Spring,
Inc. v. Borzym841 A.2d 828, 835 (Md. 2004)Regarding the physical actany
distinct act of evnership or dominion exerted by one person over the personal property
of another in denial of his right or inconsistent withwtll qualify, andsuch act'can
occur either by initially acquiring the property or by retainihgpnger than the rightful
possessor permits.Id. at835. As for the required mental stattheintent to exercise
dominion or control over the property both necessary and sufficiensee d. at 836
Moreover, notably{[t] he defendant may have the requisite intent even thbeghr she
acted in good faith and lacked any consciousness of wrongdoing, as |lodmgrasvias

an intent to exert control over the propefttyd.
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During thebenchtrial, Napperwas adamant that, because*”originally
purchasetl equipmentfor the Complexwhen he managed it prior to 20Q3uly 14,
2015Trial Tr. at90:12-19 (Napper), his refusal to let Plaintiffs take anything with
them wherhe took ovethe Complexin November of 2011andor hisfailure to
reimbuse Yah Kai for the equipment they hadrphiased fothe facility, did not
amount to conversian(See, e.g.jd. at 105:9-106:11 (when asked if hiead
compensated Yah Kai for the equipmelmat he made them leave in the buildishgring
the eviction, Napper said “I didn’t feel the need to reinseu¥ah Kai for anything that
was there before 2008 that was still there in 2011 even though it may hawe b
different, new or otherwis®). Napperhas repeatedly assertdtathe was the rightful
owner ofall of theequipment, inventoryand food supplieshatwere n the Complexn
November of 2011despite thdact thatYah Kaihad made significant property
purchasesluring its management tenur¢See Napper Dep80:2-7 (“Q: And it says,
‘You are not to remove any equipment from the building.” A: That’s correcArgk
why did you putthis— A: Because when they took the business from me, the business
came with equipment); see alsdEverlasting Life Health Cmplex Financial Records
for 2009-2015, PIs.” Ex. 3 showing that Yah Kai made multiple purchases for food,
office supplies, funiture and equipmeriietweenNovember 4, 2009 and August 2
2011).) Statel generouslyNapper apparently believésathe was entitled to takever
the entire premises in 2014along with all equipmet, inventory, and food products
therein,without compenating Yah Kai, the Communityr the members who had
purchased items between 2009 and 20fcausdhe sameind of uncompensated

ousting had happened to hiwhenhewas removed from his position as manager of the
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Complex against his will in 2008(SeeJuly 14, 2015Trial Tr. at104:20-106:16
(Napper)) However,this Court finds that, mce again, Nappé&s vision of his rights and
entitlementds inconsistent with the lavand is not supported kthe facts that were
established during trial.

For example, thi€ourt cannot begin to assess Napper’s contention that he was
the rightful owner ofrestauranequipmentand suppliegshat he purchasedhen he was
managing the Complewithout anyproofthat he actually purchased amywentoryor
equipment and equally important, that he did so his individual capacitythereby
reasonably entithg himto claim ownership (See3d FOF Thl. at 11@A, B) (“At no
time did Napper produce any documentation of ownership or purchase of the
equipment.]’).) Napper’s own testimongegarding who ownewhatinside the Capitol
Heights facility is admittedly not based on his having taken an inveradhe time of
the evictionin order to determine what was thes=¢€3d FOF Thl.at76 (A, B), so itis
simply not a crediblebasisupon which to conclude thatl of the restaurant equipment
and other property inside the Capitol Heights facilitythe fall of 2011belonged to
Napper Indeed, even if Napper’s statements in this regard were deemevdadk, he
admits onlythat hephysicallyprocured items for the Complexior to 2009 his
statementslo not demonstrate that he purchased those it@itts hisownmoney or
that hepersonallyowned the equipment that Ineay haveordered and,in fact, his
admissionsstrongly suggesthe opposite (See3d FOF Thl. at 8 (B) (admitting that
“[t]he equipment was purchasidm the business revenuéemphasis adde)see also
id. at & (B) (Napper statethat he “owned the equipment that was utilized padl for

by the business(emphasis suppligjl)
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Similarly, Napper’s suggestion that haslegedlyunwarranted demotion as
manager of the Compleantitled him toexercisevigilante justiceby taking control of
thefacility in 2011—soup to nuts-finds no support in lawand also fails to comport
with the facts that were presented during triRkince Immanuel and Dr. Lee both
testified that Napper was compensated handsomely foemsval as managefto the
tune of $ 200,00@fter the 2004 demotion, plus a proprietary interest inQb@p after
the 2008 removal, which he partly sold for $ 70,080e3d FOF Thl. at 119122
(A, B))—and there is nothing in the record that establighas these payments were
insufficient to reimburse Napper for tipersonalinvestmentsn inventory and
equipmentthat hepurportedlyhadmade. Furthermore, and perhaps even more
important,Napper offers no cases thstind for the propositiothatone who feels
slightedwith respecto a prior transaction can (legally) appropriate the offending
party’s propertyat alater timewithout his consentand this Court is aware of none. To
the contraryunder clear and welkstablishedaw, solong as Napper tended to exert
ownership or control oveYah Kai’s propertywithout that entity’s consenhe is liable
for conversion, regardless of whether he honestly believed that his1aatere
justified based on the Community’s prior treatment of him #mg “acted in good faith
and lacked ay consciousness of wrongdoing[.Parcars, 379 Md.at 262, see also
First Union Nat. Bank v. New York Life Ins. & Annuity Corp52 F. Supp. 2d 850, 855
(D. Md. 2001) (explaining thdffa] mistake of law or fact is o defensf” to a claim of
conversion (internal quotation mark and citation omitjed)

This all means thakeven inNapper’'simaginedquid-pro-quo universe Maryland

common lawclearly establishes the conduttat qualifies as unlawful conversion, and
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this Court has no doubt thauchconductoccurred when Napper evicted Yah Kai,
Prince Immanueland the other members of the Communi§pecifically,as evidenced
by the statements Napper made in thection notice and testified to at tridNlapper
expresslyand intentionallyexercised dommion and control over albf the equipmat,
inventory,andfood supplieghat wereinsidethe Capitol Heights facilityas of
November 15, 2011 (Seelst Notice to Vacate, Pls.” Ex. 14R&d Notice to Vacate,
Pls.” Ex. 14B see alsaluly 15, 2015 Trial Trat 102:4-103:3(Prince Immanuel).)And
the items inside that facilitincludedtangiblepropertythat Napper could not have had
any claim to because Yah Khad purchasethemfor the Complexduring the years it
managed that business on behalf of the @amity. (See, e.g.Everlasting Life Health
Complex Financial Records for 202D15 Pls.” Ex. 31) Such intentionalkexerion of
dominion and controbver another’s tangible property is all that Maryland law requires
for liability for conversion. See, ., Darcars, 379 Md.at 25760 (car dealership
converted plaintiff's “$2,500 cash dowmayment,. . . laptop and CDs that had been
taken during th¢lawful] repossessidnof plaintiff’'s car and never returnedK & K
Mgmt., Inc. v. Legb57 A.2d 965, 982 (Md. 198y efendant directly converted
plaintiff’'s equipment and furniturby not allowing their removal upon defendant’s
repossession of the premises on which they were located, notwithstandimg aiefe
mistaken belief that he shared ownership over the propeftlygrefore, Napper is

liable for conversion, and Yah Kai is entitled to judgment in its favor on Counf VI

18 Plaintiffs have fashioned their padingsand evidencéo bring a claim of conversion solebased
upon property owned by Yah Kai.Sée e.g.Compl. 31 (“[Napper] has converted the equipment in
the propertywhich belongs to the Yah Kand the Commuity[.]” (emphasis added)); Pls.” COL at 18
(“Napper had absolutely no rights whatsoeveilyath Kai'sequipmentcustomer lists, menus,
employees, use of its name and business operation.”) (empddaesl).) Because conversion
necessitates a threshold dimg of ownership to warrant redress, the Cdintls that Yah Kai alone has
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2. Yah Kai's Damagedor ConversiodncludeNot Only The Value Of
The Restaurant Equipment, Food, And Other Tangible ltems It
Purchasedror The Complex, But Also The Pepco Rebate Amount

As noted above, the partiberehave consented toroceed to a jury trial on
damages, so it wilbe up to the jury to sort out the value of items Napper converted
based orvah Kai's proof of purchaesthatit made but it is worth pausing here to
inform the parties of the law that govertie scope of Yah Kai’s recoveryJnder
Marylandlaw, when conversion occurg,plaintiff is entitled to recover “the full value
of the chattel” measured bis “market value . . . at the time and place of conversion
plus interest to the date of judgmentStaub v. Staub376 A.2d 1129, 11333 (Md.

Ct. Spec. Appl1977) Although it used to be that only tangible property was
recoverable with respect to a otaof conversionMaryland lawnow also permits
recovery forintangibleproperty interests in specific circumstances, such as when a
defendant converts a paper or digital document that embodies the plainitgfit to
certainintangible property See Neuman v. Travelers Indem..C®19 A.2d 522, 525
(Md. 1974) (tangible property is property that has “physical substanue’ald other
property is intangiblécitation omitted). Under such circumstances, the defendant is
liable not only for the valuef the documentlefendant convertedhut alsothe
intangible rights that documen¢épresents.SeeLawson v. Commonwealth Land Title
Ins. Ca, 518 A.2d 174, 176 (Md. Ct. Spec. Af@®86) (“[I] njured owner could recover
not just the nominal value of the documetself that was wrongfully withheld but also

the value of the right evidenced mpresented by the document.8ge alsoThompson

sustained its burden, anddannot conclude that Prince Immantnels established amgntitiementto
damages for conversion.
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v. UBS Fin. Servs., Inc115 A.3d 125, 133 (Md. 201%¢xplaining that Maryland
courts have found such recovery appropriaten a defendant converta stock
certificate,a promissory note, or a document that embodiesigtd to a life insurance
policy” (internal citations omitted)

Consequentlywith respect to the instant cad¢apper will be required to
reimburse Yah Kai fothetangible itemshe convertedn November of 201+-e.g, the
restaurant equipment and food that Plaintiffs were forced to leave behindNdpper
evicted them—and also anyntangibleproperty rights that Plaintiffs can prove Napper
took, includingthoseembodied intherecords thatvere in the facility at the time dhe
November eviction.(SeeCompl. | 61 (alleging that “Napper has converted Plaintiff’s
customer base and confidential business information and recaeks’alsdNapper
Dep. 139:39 (“Q: Did you return the documents that were [in the Complex’s file
cabinets] to Yah Kai [after the November 15th eviction]? A: No, | didn’t. Qt ¥ou
ever look in those files to examiredo an inventoryf what was in those files?

A: Sure, we did.”).) Certain“confidential business informationlCompl{ 61) that Yah
Kai compiled while operating the Complex aexlistedin Yah Kai's business records
from 2008 to 201 Tjualifies as a recoverabletangible property interest of Yah Kai
SeeCarpenter v. Urntied States484 U.S. 19, 261987) (“Confidential business

information has long been recognized as progdry.’

" To the extent that Yah Kai claims the ability to recover theterest in “customer information”
included in thephysical customer lists left in the Complex (Compl. § @h¥ Court notes that, under
Maryland law,a “compilation of customer information does not, as a maiferourse, carry with it the
right to exclude all others from also possessing the same informyatiad, therefore, cannot be the
subject of a conversion claim, even when embodied in tangible documentatigance for
Telecommunications Indus. Sols., Inc. v. HHalb. CCB-05-440, 2007 WL 3224589, at *14 (D. Md.
Sept. 27, 2007)see also Thompsoril5 A.3d at 134 (t is at present therevailing view that there can
be no conversion of. . such intangible [property] rights as the goodwill of a business or thesamh
customers’). However,if Yah Kai can establish that other types of confidelnbiasiness information
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Also recoverable under the circumstances presented héreiistangible
utilities rebateamountthatwas revealed for the first timguring trial, becauseéhis
rebatewas“a debt” that Yah Kai waséntitled to colledt]” as reflected inhe PEPCO
invoicesthat Yah Kai stored in the fileabinets that Napper converted at the time of the
eviction. Texas v. New Jersegt al., 379 U.S. 674677 (1965)(stating that “a debt
which a person igntitled to collecis intangible property)supplemented sub nom
Texas vNew Jersey380 U.S. 51§1965) Medi-Cen Corp.v. Birschbach720 A.2d
966, 972 (Md. Ct. Spec. Appl998) (holding that aalarce due from debtocan be
subject to conversion through physical documeatsh as a general accounting ledger,
that evidenced those debtsJhe evidence at trial established thiatvas Yah Kai—not
Napper—thathadoverpaidfor the utilities thatthe Complex usetdetween2009 until
2011. (See3d FOF Tbl.at 88 (A), 78(A, B); July 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 181:16 (Dr.
Lee) (“Yah Kai continued to pay that electric bifrom 2009 to 2011]");see alsdd. at
34:14-23 (Nappe) (admittinghe wa not paying utilities but that he knew that someone
else in the Community, likely Yah Kai, was instead making the paymégn¥t, when
the management company soughptovide the$ 125,000rebate from PEPCQt was
Napperwho negotiated theebate credit for his owpersonal benefit.See supraPart
[11.D andnotell. Moreover, according taCarol Allen, Napper demonstrated his
purported entitlement to the rebdig tendering documentatiamgardng the prior
overpaymentsn the form of utility invoicedor the years of 200&hrough 2011 (See

July 15, 2015 Trial Tr87:15-88:20) Based on the record evidenceist@ourt finds

was in the records left behind, it may seek to recover those intangible propertyéste during future
proceedings on damages.
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that hoseinvoicesbelonged toYyah Kaiandwerestored in the bsiness files that
Napper exerted dominion and control over when he evicted Yah Kai and the
Community Furthermore becausdhose invoices were the only docunienmequested
(and presented) teubstantiate (and support) a right to the rebate payment imtbhara
of $ 125,000 ¢eeid. at 87:15-88:20 (Allen)) the tangible invoiceshat Napper
converted—and then presented to Allerencompassed Yah Kai’'s intangible property
interestin the PEPCQebateas a matter of lawSee First Union Nat. Bankl52 F.
Supp.2d at855(D. Md. 2001) (explaining thatjn order to recover for conversion, a
plaintiff has to show that he iehtitled to possession of any document evidencing the
[intangible property interest] or that any such document[] hesg¢essaryo the
protection and enforcemenf the intangible righty .18

In short,Plaintiffs have established thadbcumens existthat establishand
encompassheir right toa $125,000rebate(the PEPCO invoices), aralsothat Napper
convertedand usedhosedocumens to secure the rebate for himsefonsequently
Nappermust pay damagasndera theory of conversion for the intangible property

rightsof Yah Kai that wereembodied in the recordbatNapperconverted as well as

8 Notably,in this set of circumstancethe fact that therebate payment never took the form of actual
currency—i.e., thatKingdom Managemendid nottender cash or a check to Napper, but instead
credited his future rent paymentsloes not thwart Yah Kai’'s conversion claim; if anything, one might
argue that the form of the rebdteremakes Yah Kais claim for damagesven stronger. That is
because, “[fs a general rule, money, i.e., currency, is not subject to a claboroversion” under
Maryland law,Darcars, 379 Md. at 25&.3; see also Tillery v. BordeNo. CBD-07-1092, 2010 WL
3517015, at *8 (D. Md. Sept. 3, 2010) (defendant cannot exert ownessltigntrol over money that
was applied to satisfy obligations and debts), but the rebate at issuewagrend hasalways remained
an intangible property interest in tfieture satisfaction of a debgnd as suchMaryland law permits its
recovery Cf., Diane Sales, Inc. v. Am. Express Centurion Bawk GLR-14-1063,2014 WL
11429026, at *23 (D. Md. July 14, 2014) (“[Because] monies deposited in a bank account atkenot
personal property of the account holder, but rather they “conlsédthothingmore or less than a
[bank’s] promise to pay,” plaintiff had intangible property rights ingddunds which must be
embodied in a tangible document to be converted. (second alteration inadyigimernal quotation
marks and citation omittejl)
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any other tangible and intangible property interests of Yah Kai thag vaden when
Napper evicted them from the Complex

C. Napper Did Not Owe A Fiduciary Duty To Plaintiffs, And Therefore, Did
Not Usurp Their Corporate Opportunity

Finally, after careful consideration of the evidence ana, lidnis Court has
reached the conclusion that Nappannot be heldiable forusurpation of corporate
opportunityunder Maryland law, as Coull contends.As “an offshoot of the general
duty of loyalty owed by corporate officers, directors and ugdpeel management
employeeg]” Maryland Metals, Inc. v. MetzneB82 A.2d 564, 572 (Md. 1978)
(footnote omitted)the doctrine of usurpation of corporate opportunstyjuite narrow
it precludes “corporate personnefi.e., individuals who hava fiduciary dutyof
loyalty to the corporatior-“from diverting unto themselves opportunities which in
fairness ought to belong to the corporationd. at 572 n.5.The core principle of a
duty of loyalty is the existence offaduciary relationship between the partieshere
such a relationship exists, tipartyhasalegalduty to act for the benefit of the other
party in matters within the scope of their relationsh§ee Lasater v. Guttmanh A.3d
79, 93 (Md. 2010) (citation omitted¥ee alsdSterling v. Ourisman Gdvrolet of Bowie
Inc., 943 F. Supp. 2d 577, 599 (D. Md. 2013 xamples of fiduciary relationships
include trustee and beneficiary, guardian and ward, agent and prindifeathesy and
client, partners in a partnership, corporate directors and their rpn.” (internal
guotation marks and citation omittgd)Notably, afiduciary relationshigs not
synonymous with dconfidential relationship—the former gives rise to l@gal duty
and is based on the nature of the relationship as a matter of law, whilave the

latter, a partyneed onlyhave “gained the confidence of the other and purgptd act
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or advse with the other’s interest in mindLasater 5 A.3d at 93internal quotation
marks and citation omitted)

Try as it might, thisCourtcan findno evidence thallapperhada fiduciary
relationship—as that term is defined by lawto Yah Kai,Prince Immanal, or, for that
matter, the Communityindeed in the fall of 2011, whemNapper surreptitiously
renewed the lease for the Capitol Heights location and evicted Yafwkath, as far as
this Court can tell, are the acts that comprise the alleged usurpatapper was no
longer the manager of the Complef{SeeJuly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 81:89 (Prince
Immanue) (explaining thatNapper was permanently removedrrahe Complex’s
management by the Community leadatghe October 2008 meetiny Perhaps even
moreimportant,the record clearly reflects thae was essentially estranged from the
Community leadershipt the time (SeeJuly 14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 45:286:2 (Nappey
(attestingthat he no longer associated with the Community’s leadership after 2008 or
2009)) It is possible that, even sBblappermight have had &duciary relationship with
ELCC when he renewed the lease in 2011, because he was purporting tasénae
entity’s agentwith respect tahe execution of contracts and other legal documents. But
ELCC is not joined asa plaintiff in this lawsuit, and to the extent that Napper’s conduct
in renewing the lease in his own namlearly constituted a takig of a corporate
opportunity fromnamedPlaintiff Yah Kai (which was seeking to take over the lease at
that same time)therecord establishes that Napper was never an agent of YaarHai
thusdid not owe Yah Kai éegal duty to refrain from undertaking the challenged

renewal (Seeduly 15, 2015 Trial Tr. at 81:2@1 (Prince Immanuel) (“Mr. Napper was
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offered a position on [the Complex’s restructuring scheme in thecreationof Yah
Kai] along with Dr. Lee, Mr. Yangand Mr. Clay. He refused.))

This Courttruly understandshe thrust of Plaintiffscontentionthat Napper
betrayed thm, and their feelings of betrayateacertainly borne out bthe unfortunate
facts and circumstances presenthding thetrial. Dr. Lee put it best when she
characterized the Comples @ business that the Community Hadingly created and
that the Communitpwned“as a collective body]” (ld. at 205:25 (Dr. Lee).)
Everyonehadinvested in the project anfthdworked together to ensure its success, but
“[sJomewhere along the line there was a dispid. at 205:6),and“in the blink of an
eyel[,]” without any warning or explanation, Napper thaegotiated a lease on his own”
(id. at 205:25, 206:A), and“Yah Kai [didrit] haveaccess to the facility, [didt] have
access to the business Everlastinfg Health Complex any longerid. at 20512-15).
This Court has no doubt th#te swiftand minful eviction that Napper coldly executed
crushed the dreams and financial stabilityaafiving group ofpeople whom he had
previously“loved” and had shared his life with as “brothgrand. . . sister[s]” (July
14, 2015 Trial Tr. at 85:18l9 (Napper)) But amoral obligation to do the right thing
when abusinespportunityarisesis notthe samelegal one. And Plaintiffs have
failed to demonstratehat Napper owed themfaluciary duty of loyalty, asvaryland
law requires Consequentlywith respect to Count IV of the complajrihis Court must

enterjudgment forDefendant
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained aboaad based on thevidence presentedt trial,
this Court concludes that Plaintiffs have satisfied their burden of prabfre@spect to
severallegalclaims As a result, this Court finds thBefendant is liabldor federal
trademark infringement and unfair competitionderthe Lanham ActCouns | andll),
Maryland common law unfair competitiq€ount Ill), and Maryland common law
conversion(CountVI), but that Defendant is not liabfer Maryland common law
usurpation of a corporate opportunity under Count A& set forth in the
accompanying orderhe parties willnow be directed to submd joint proposed
schedule for further proceedings in this matter, includlatgs for gury trial with

respect to damagder Counts I, I, Ill, and Vlof the complaint.

DATE: July 3, 2016 KeAanjs Brown Packson
s )

KETANJI BROWN JACKSON
United States District Jueg
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